TETRAHEDRON REPORT NUMBER 77

OLEFIN INVERSION

PHILIP E. SONNET

Insect Attractants Laboratory, USDA, P.O. Box 14565, Gainesville, FL 32604, U.S.A.

(Received in U.S.A. 9 August 1979)

CONTENTS

- 1. Direct isomerization
 - (a) Thermal-chemical isomerization (b) Photoisomerization
- 2. Oxidative additions to alkenes followed by reductive elimination
 - (a) Anti additions summarized
 - (b) Syn additions summarized
 - (c) Anti eliminations summarized
 - (d) Syn eliminations summarized
 - (e) Inversions exemplified
- 3. Cleavage of epoxides followed by *anti* or *syn* elimination (a) Syntheses of epoxides summarized
 - (b) Reductions of (and olefin inversions from) epoxides summarized
- 4. Fragmentation of thiiranes and related heterocycles
 - (a) Syntheses of thiiranes from alkenes summarized
 - (b) Fragmentations of thiiranes
 - (c) Fragmentations of related heterocycles
- 5. Fragmentation of aziridines and related heterocycles
 - (a) Syntheses of aziridines from alkenes summarized
 - (b) Fragmentations of aziridines
- (c) Fragmentations of related heterocycles
- 6. Fragmentations of heterocycles based on vic-diols, dithiols
 - (a) Thiono- and trithiocarbonates
 - (b) Dioxolanes
- 7. Interconversion of other alkene geometrical isomers

INTRODUCTION

THE carbon-carbon double bond is a basic structural unit in organic chemistry, and research programs often deal with the syntheses, purifications, analyses, and chemical reactivities of alkenes, dienes, polyenes, etc. as the focal point of the research. Excellent reviews of olefin chemistry are available.¹ The development of new reaction methods, as well as the modification of known reactions to stereospecifically create double bonds or multiply unsaturated systems deservedly continues to receive much attention.² Moreover, reviews have been published of the methods for stereospecific olefin synthesis.³ The interconversion of olefinic geometrical isomers, however, has received less attention. In principal, unique molecular features such as strain or proximite functional groups may prevent direct access to a double bond of desired geometry by common methods, and inversion of the isomeric compound may be the route of choice. Thus an all-trans carotenoid structure could potentially be obtained by reduction of an all-trans polyeneyne.⁴ Known methods for reducing acetylenes to trans-alkenes are often not applicable to conjugated systems,⁵ and investigators have catalytically hydrogenated the alkyne linkage following which they have inverted the newly formed cis-double bond to trans.⁴ Additionally, the only preparations described for the highly strained trans-cyclooctene and its derivatives have begun with the cis-isomer (see below). Naturally, ready availability of one isomer to an investigator, perhaps due to the unique circumstances of the research program, may also prompt consideration of inversion to the desired isomer.

This review will deal with the subject of olefin inversion, that is the interconversion of Z and E isomers, with special emphasis on methods which produce product compositions other than that of a

P. E. SONNET

thermal or photo equilibration. Methods for double bond migration⁶ and olefin metathesis⁷ will not be included. Following the conventions to which an earlier review adhered,³⁶ reactions which were not stereospecific (productive of only one geometrical isomer) will be referred to as having a degree of stereoselectivity.⁸ Since we will be concerned with both the processes by which olefins were inverted as well as the geometrical constitution of the product olefins, some confusion may arise through the use of the terms *cis* and *trans* to describe both the process and the product. The terms *syn* and *anti* shall be used to qualify reaction mechanism, while *cis* (or Z) and *trans* (or E) shall serve to define olefin (or other molecular) geometry⁹ using established priority rules.¹⁰

(a) Analyses of alkene composition

A brief summary of the methods of analyzing and characterizing alkenes follows. Prior to the advent of gas chromatography, physical measurements including melting (freezing) point, index of refraction, density, boiling point, and dielectric constant were employed to assess the purity of simple alkenes.¹¹ Conclusions based on these data were often the result of considerable energy and devotion to chemistry. Because the diastereometric bromine adducts of Z- and E- olefins were reduced by potassium iodide/methanol or acetone at different rates, these reduction rates could be useful for identification also.¹² Thus, the dibromide from trans-stilbene (erythro) was reduced in acetone over 100 times faster than was the three isomer. Various chromatographic methods are now, of course, commonly employed in the analysis of product composition. However, simple alkenes, conjugated dienes, and fatty acid/alcohol derivatives have posed problems which taxed the limits of even glc resolution in recent years. Reviews are available for chromatographic determination of Z-E unsaturation in fats and oils,¹³ argentation thin layer chromatography,¹⁴ and liquid crystals in chromatography.¹⁵ The use of silver nitrate on polar liquid phases for glc has been found useful, but is limited to very volatile compounds since the temperature limit for the phase is ca. 65°.¹⁶ Electrophilic addition to, or epoxidation of, geometrically isomeric alkenes produces glc-separable diastereomers, and this topic has also received review.¹³ Glass capillary columns have been advocated for the separation of unsaturated fatty acids.¹⁷ and high performance liquid chromatography using silver nitrate-silica gel¹⁸ has been successfully employed for both analytical and preparative purposes including the resolution of the four geometrical isomers of 3,13-octadecadien-1-yl acetate, components of the sex pheromone of certain lepidopterous peach pests.¹⁹ The use of smectic liquid crystals as phases for gas chromatographic separation of long chain alkenes²⁰ and of cholesteric phases in capillary columns for the resolution of conjugated dienes²¹ further extends the use of chromatographic techniques for the analysis of difficult isomer mixtures.

(b) Purification

Rigorous purification of an alkene (diene, etc.) to remove traces of isomeric impurities has often been a difficult problem. Solutions have included AgNO₃- preparative thin layer chromatography,^{22a} AgNO₃ column chromatography,^{22b} and AgNO-HPLC.¹⁸ The formation of a solid dibromide from a liquid alkene followed by recrystallization to obtain a pure diastereomer has been used to purify the alkene.²³ The olefin was then recovered by zinc debromination of the adduct (*anti*, but see below). Conjugated dienes could sometimes be purified through the formation of Diels-Alder addition products with SO₂²⁴ or with tetracyanoethylene.²⁵ Since the *E,E*-dienes react most readily, such a procedure was useful if the *E,E*-isomer was specifically sought, or if it was the contaminant to be removed. Urea inclusion complexes have also found great utility for otherwise difficult olefin purifications.²⁶ Several recent patents also describe the separation of isomers by means of zeolites.²⁷

L DIRECT ISOMERIZATION

(a) Thermal-chemical isomerization

Gilman²⁸ provided a brief summary of the most frequently employed techniques for affecting *cis-trans* isomerism. Such isomerizations could be complete only if the energy difference between a pair of isomers was substantial. Otherwise, mixtures resulted and the chemist was left the task of separating the required isomer from the equilibrated mixture. Maleic and angelic acids were, in fact, effectively converted by heating to fumaric and tiglic acids, respectively. Conjugation generally has the additional effect of lowering energy barriers to interconversion and this fact can be exploited for synthesis. A classic illustration was provided by the preparation of (all *trans*)- β -carotene, 2 (Scheme 1).⁴ An alkyne precursor was hydrogenated (Pd catalyst) yielding 15,15'-*cis*- β -carotene, 1. The more stable all *trans* isomer 2 was then readily obtained by heating 1 in petroleum ether at 80°.

Additionally, a wide variety of chemical reagents can be made to add reversibly to olefins and thereby generate equilibrated mixtures.²⁸ Halogen, halogen acids, nitric and nitrous acids, and PCl₅ were reportedly effective. Nitrous acid treatment of oleic acid to give mixtures containing the isomer, elaidic acid, led to the term "elaidinization" to describe the process whereby olefin geometry became equilibrated in order to obtain the geometrical isomer.²⁹ A more definitive study indicated that NO₂ radical was probably adding reversibly, and in common with other reversible radical additions, (1) the intermediate carbon radical species had an opportunity to invert configuration and (2) the double bond did not readily shift position.²⁹⁶ An example of this reagent's utility involves the synthesis of the two components of the sex pheromone of the pink bollworm, *Pectinophora gossypiella*; namely (Z,Z)- and (Z,E)-7,11-hexadecadien-1-ol acetates, 4 and 5, respectively (Scheme 1).³⁰ The (Z,Z)-isomer 4 was



obtained by hydrogenation of the acetylenic linkage of the common intermediate, (Z)-11-hexadecen-7yn-1-ol acetate, 3. Treatment of 3 with aqueous HONO produced a mixture rich in the (E)-enyne, 5, hydrogenation of which gave a diene mixture in which the (Z,E)-isomer, 6, predominated. Suitable blending of the two preparations afforded the 1:1 ratio of isomers required for optimum attraction of the male moth.

The most useful reagents to promote geometrical isomerism have been iodine $(\rightarrow I \cdot)$ and diphenyl thioglycolic acid $(\rightarrow RS \cdot)$. Isomerization of olefins with iodine are brought about in a nonpolar solvent sometimes with additional light (sunlamp). Extensive positional isomerism occurs, however, with nonconjugated olefins before equilibration of geometrical isomers can be achieved.³¹ For conjugated olefins it is often possible to cause rapid equilibration and, by lowering the temperature, cause the all-*trans*-isomer to precipitate from solution. Numerous examples are available in chemical literature and only two examples will be given as demonstration. An insecticidal amide derived from several trees of the families Rutaceae and Compositae, α -sanshool, 7 (Scheme 2), was isomerized to the all-*trans*, β , isomer, **8**, which precipitated from solution.³² Roelofs *et al.*³³ identified and synthesized the sex pheromone of the codling moth, *Laspeyresia pomonella*, which is (E, E)-8,10-dodecadien-1-ol, 10 (Scheme 2). The diene structure was generated by the condensation of an allylic phosphorane with the aldehyde, **9**. The geometrical constitution of the condensation product was not homogeneous. Reduction





gave the crude dienol which was treated with I_2 and sunlight to obtain a mixture in which the E,E-isomer, 10, predominated (50% of the total dienols).

Nonconjugated olefins when heated with selenium or sources of sulfur radicals underwent both geometrical and positional isomerism. However, sulfur radicals generated from diphenyl sulfide and diphenyl disulfide by long wave length light (> 300 nm) produced mixtures of geometrical isomers whose composition represented thermodynamic equilibrium with only 2-3% migration of the alkene linkage. Table 1 provides a comparison of equilibrium ratios obtained with several olefins by using UV-induced

Alkane	Hethod	NE.	¥Z.	Positional isomerism
(<u>Z</u>)-2-Butana	Acetophenone (>320nm)	75	25	none
(<u>Z</u>)-2-But ène	Diphenyl sulfide (>300mm)	72	28	none
(<u>E</u>)-2-Butene	Diphenyl sulfide (>300nm)	72	28	none
(<u>2</u>)-2-Butene	Na/A1203	73	21	equilibrated
2-pentene ^b	Acetophenone (>320mm)	85	15	none
	Diphenyl sulfide (>300mm)	81	19	none
	Na/A1203	82	18	equilibrated
(<u>7</u>)-5-decese	Acetophenone (>320ms)	89	11	none
(<u>E</u>)- 5-decene	Acetophenone (>300mm)	89	11	none
(<u>Z</u>)-5-decene	Diphenyl sulfide (>300mm)	84	16	none
(E)-5-decene	Diphenyl sulfide (>300nm)	85	15	none
(<u>E</u>)-Stilbene	- (>290mm)	29	71	-
(<u>E</u>)-Stilbene ^C	Diphenyl disulfide (>320mm)	40	60	-
(<u>E</u>)-Stilbene ^C	Diphenyl disulfide (>360nm)	93	7	-
(<u>E</u>)-Stilbene	Na/Al203	100	0	-

Table 1. Z, E-Interconversion by direct isomerization*

^a Ref. 31a

^b 56% <u>Z</u> : 44% <u>E</u>.

^C 70% <u>Z</u> : 30% <u>E</u>.

reversible radical addition, Na/Al₂O₃, and acetophenone photosensitized equilibration.³¹ The studies reported in Table 1 were also extended to a number of nonconjugated cyclic dienes.³⁴ Evidently, however, thermally generated sulfur radicals sometimes can be successfully employed to affect geometrical isomerization. Thus, for example, (Z, E, E)-1,5,9-cyclododecatriene and the (E, E, E)-isomer were interconverted by heating in benzene under reflux with a catalytic quantity of thiolglycolic acid.^{35,36} The synthesis of humulene 12 (Scheme 3) provides an example of olefin inversion promoted by



photoinduced sulfur radicals.³⁷ Exposure of the triene 11 to diphenyl disulfide and light of > 350 nm generated a mixture of products from which both the starting material and humulene were extracted with 50% aqueous AgNO₃.³⁶ Preparative glc afforded pure humulene. In similar fashion (-)-caryophyllene, 13, was converted in 95% yield to (-)-iso-caryophyllene, 14 (Scheme 3).³⁹ Attempted thermal isomerization of 13 gave only a 50% yield of the isomer 14 accompanied by polymers and two other compounds, one of which was identified as the positional isomer, 15. Using light of > 350 nm and diphenyl sulfide in benzene-MeOH, Bundy *et al.*⁴⁰ isomerized the prostaglandin, (*cis-5*)-PGE 2. The (*trans-5*) isomer was obtained in 22% yield after careful chromatography on acid washed silica gel. Finally, it should be noted that simple alkenes have also been equilibrated employing photoinduced radicals from tetrabutyltin^{41a} and tributylgallium,^{41a} athough these procedures seem to offer no significant advantage.

Ordinarily, electrophilic addition to olefins is not useful for Z-E interconversion because the addition may be highly stereoselective and/or lacks reversibility. Some exceptions, however, exist. Thus, a strained cyclic olefin such as (E)-cyclononene could be isomerized to the Z-isomer with β -naphthalenesulfonic acid at 150°.⁴² Presumably this inversion would not be successful for unsymmetrically substituted strained cyclic alkenes. An interesting inversion was provided by Mills⁴³ who found that the Hg(OAc)₂ adduct of the oleoresin, Z-abienol, 16, (Scheme 4) was reduced by zinc to give the E-isomer. The fortuitously placed OH group guided the formation of the adduct 17. It was also possible to catalytically convert the cis to trans using Hg(OAc)₂; the ratio of isomers at equilibrium was 4:1 (E:Z). A study of Pd-catalyzed reactions of olefins permitted equilibration of (E)-1,2-dideuterioethylene in the presence of palladium chloride complexed with benzonitrile.⁴⁴ This reaction occurred without isotope



redistribution; i.e. mono- and tri-deuterioethylenes were not obtained as was the case for other Pd complexes examined. PdCl₂ likewise affected isomerization of E-1,2-diphenylpropene.⁴³ Preferential precipitation of the Pd complex containing the potential Z-isomer aided in purifying that compound.

Sulfur dioxide adsorbed on a variety of metal oxides and zeolites has the capacity for interconverting cis and trans isomers.⁴⁶ These isomerizations also occurred without positional isomerism.

(b) Photoisomerization

Excellent and detailed discussions of olefin photoisomerization have been published.^{47,48} Calculations of Mulliken *et al.* predicted that both the lowest energy excited singlet and triplet states would have energy minima at that configuration in which the planes of the methylene groups were mutually perpendicular. This twisted geometry was expected to minimize electron-electron repulsion. The derived potential energy diagram for the electronic states of ethylene indicated that the twisted singlet could produce either the *cis* or *trans* olefin by internal conversion and that intersystem crossing from the twisted triplet could likewise produce either olefin. Practically speaking, however, direct irradiation of alkenes will likely produce $\{\Pi^2 s + \Pi^2 s\}$ cycloaddition in competition with the desired isomerization.

The pioneering efforts of Hammond et al.⁴⁹ demonstrated that the compositions of the mixtures of a photostationary state obtained by photosensitization was a function of the nature of that photosensitizer. Hence, the investigator could in principal determine in advance a photosensitizer so as to favorably affect the composition of his isomerized mixture. Sensitizers having low excitation energies functioned as true photocatalysts, which is to say the photostationary state of the reaction mixture approached that at thermal equilibrium. Actually, the sensitized photoisomerization of alkenes is rather complex and several sensitizer-olefin interactions may be operative.⁵⁰ Nevertheless, the selective transfer of energy to a geometric isomer of lower triplet energy in order to enrich the material in the other isomer remains a valuable synthetic tool for the chemist.⁴⁹ An illustrative example was provided by Ramamurthy et al.⁵¹ who inverted several trans-*B*-ionyl derivatives in high yield to the crowded cis isomers (Scheme 5). The critical E_T was 65 kcal/mole. At higher photosensitizer triplet energies, the products contained trans isomer indicating excitation of the cis compound. The E_T of the cis compounds was estimated as 75 kcal/mole, expectedly higher (noncoplanarity of the cis-diene) than that normally observed for conjugated dienes (55-60 kcal/mole). Although E_T's of a given pair of geometrical isomers may preclude complete alkene inversion, it is clear that mixtures enriched in the isomer of greater $E_{\rm T}$ can be easily generated.





Scheme 5.

Excitation of olefin complexes to achieve isomerization appears to have been less well studied. Ferrocene and 2,4-pentadiene formed a complex which, when irradiated, dissociated to a triplet state of ferrocene and a triplet state of the olefin.⁵² The latter either relaxed to *cis* or *trans*-2,4-pentadiene, or reacted (by addition) to a ground state olefin molecule. Of greater utility, Deyrup and Betkowski³³ irradiated cyclooctene at 2537 nm for 24 hours with Cu₂Cl₂ (Scheme 5). *Trans*-cyclooctene was recovered in 19% yield and 99% purity by virtue of its greater solubility in aqueous AgNO₃. Moreover, the recovered *cis*-cyclooctene could be recycled. The considerable stability of a *trans*-cyclooctene-Cu¹ complex was responsible for the shift in photoequilibrium toward *trans* product.⁵⁴ Similarly (*Z*,*E*)-1,5-cyclooctadiene was obtained from the (*Z*,*Z*)-isomer (30-40% yield). *Cis*-*trans* isomerism has also been reportedly induced by polyenes.⁵⁵ Low lying triplet levels in the polyenes and sufficient S-T splitting in the olefin polyene complex were deemed responsible for the isomerization.

Cycloadditions and cycloreversions of, for example, conjugated dienes are controlled by orbital symmetry considerations,⁵⁶ and proceed therefore with opposite stereochemical consequences when induced thermally or photochemically. Thus, (E,E)-2,4-hexadiene was transformed photochemically to cis-1,2-dimethyl-3-cyclobutene (disrotatory closure) which, upon heating, reverted to (E,Z)-2,4-hexadiene (conrotatory opening).⁵⁷ In general, both conrotation and disrotation can occur in two ways; i.e., each cyclobutene isomer would lead to two of the four diene isomers. Hence, preparation of a (E,E)-diene could in principle be accompanied by the (Z,Z)-isomer in a ratio determined by the steric bulk of the rotating groups. In the case of E-1,2-dimethyl-3-cyclobutene, only (E,E)-2,4-hexadiene was obtained.⁵⁷ Clearly, also, two (E,Z)-isomers would be isolated in the case of the synthesis of an unsymmetrical conjugated diene. Thus, while many examples exist to show how faultlessly the symmetry considerations predict the geometry of an alkene product, the process of interconversion by photoclosure/photoaddition or thermal reversion has not been generally useful for interconverting conjugated dienes.⁵⁸

2. OXIDATIVE ADDITIONS TO ALKENES FOLLOWED BY REDUCTIVE ELIMINATION

The sequence of oxidative addition to an alkene involving one or more $S_N 2$ displacements on carbon, and reductive elimination will return an olefin of inverted geometry (providing each step is stereospecific) if the total number of invertive steps is odd (Scheme 6). Since anti addition of XY (invertive) followed by anti elimination of XY (invertive) constitutes an even number of invertive steps, retention of geometry is observed (e.g. alkene + Br₂, then Zn debromination). However, an intervening $S_N 2$ displacement, for example of Y by Z, followed by anti elimination of XZ should invert olefin geometry. A syn addition (noninvertive) followed by anti elimination likewise constitutes an odd number of inversions and should produce an olefin of opposite geometry. In addition to the several sequences enumerated in Scheme 6 (in principle, one can imagine an infinite number of sequences if no restrictions are placed on the number of steps and neither the chemist nor his molecules wear out), the large numbers of reagents which could be employed for addition and reduction provide a very large potential

Some inversion sequences exemplified



Scheme 6.

P. E. SONNET

for olefin inversion. Relatively few studies, however, have been directed toward this goal. Therefore, the reagents and processes of addition, and of elimination, have been separately summarized. The data includes particularly those reagents for addition which are deemed appropriate for this subject, i.e. the added groups must be reasonably easily displaced from carbon. It will be evident that many sequences can still be examined for inverting olefin geometry, which, because of the availability of reagents, ease of handling, and mikiness of reaction conditions, may be superior to the sequences which have been thus far described.

(a) Anti additions summarized

This is not intended to be an exhaustive compilation of *anti* additions to olefins; excellent discussion of mechanism and compilation of electrophilic reagents are available.⁵⁹⁻⁶² The addition of electrophilic reagents to olefins is generally anti.^{39,60} Thus, it is possible to produce stereospecifically erythro difunctionalized compounds from trans alkenes and three from cis alkenes with a wide variety of reagents. If the substituents themselves do not qualify as "good leaving" groups, then they can often be transformed to such. Bromine and modified brominating agents, such as pyridinium bromide perbromide.⁵⁹ bromine chloride.⁶³ and chlorine⁶¹ have been most commonly employed for controlled anti addition of halogen. Trans-halohydrins and ethers of halohydrins can be obtained most directly using N-haloimides in moist solvents^{62,64} or in alcohols,⁵⁹ respectively. Also, iodohydrins can be obtained by direct iodination using I₂ and iodous acid,⁶⁵ or aqueous I₂ in tetramethylene sulfone-CHCl₃.⁶⁶ Nhalosuccinimide in carboxylic acids offers access to trans halohydrin esters,^{99,67} and the reaction of vic-diols with α -acetoxy isobutryl halides also results in the formation of vic-haloesters which are the result of a single inversion of carbon.⁴⁶ Anti dihydroxylation can be achieved by the Prevost reaction.^{99,69} which entails treating an alkene with an equivalent of I_2 and two equivalents of the silver salt of a carboxylic acid (forming the Simonini complex). The trans haloester which is initially formed (Scheme 7) becomes transformed to a trans diester (backside involvement by the ester carbonyl as the halide ion



Scheme 7.

departs), which, upon saponification, produces a *trans* 1,2-diol. A recent report suggested thallous acetate instead of the silver acetate.⁷⁰ Treatment of alkenes with hydrogen peroxide-formic acid^{71a} (or persuccinic,^{71b} or pertrifluoroacetic acids^{71c}) followed by saponification also affords *trans* diols. Additionally, these may be obtained by acid-catalyzed hydration of epoxides⁷² or directly from the alkene with ortho-percarboxybenzenesulfonic acid.⁷³ Complications during the addition of electrophilic reagents to alkenes do arise, however, when the alkene has the potential for molecular rearrangement or can afford stabilization for an incipient carbonium ion. The situation is further complicated if the initial II-complex or onium ion formed by reaction of electrophile with double bond is weak. Thus, for example, trisubstituted alkenes do not add chlorine cleanly,⁶¹ and the crowded 1,2-disubstituted olefin, (*E*)-di-t-butylethylene, reacts with chlorine producing 2,4-dichloro-2,3,5,5-tetramethylhexane which arises from the migration of a methyl group.⁷⁴ Clearly, however, *anti*-addition can provide a spectrum of stereospecifically derivatized olefins with which to proceed.

(b) Syn additions summarized

A stereospecific syn addition to an olefinic double bond has always been of considerable interest because it constitutes an exception to the general observation of anti addition. In 1963, Dewar and Fahey reported syn addition of DBr to acenaphthene, indene and 1-phenylpropane.⁷⁵ Cristol *et al.* had found that chlorine also added syn to acenaphthene.⁷⁶ Syn addition of HX has been reviewed,⁷⁷ and mechanistic interpretations for these additions have been advanced.^{78,79} Many of the reactions which produce syn additions to alkenes, however, occur by initial *trans* addition to the alkene. The initial adduct may undergo an inversion of carbon configuration *in situ*, or as the result of a discrete subsequent laboratory operation, producing a *cis* adduct. Such a transformation will be referred to as a (net) syn addition.

The "wet Prevost" reaction, or Woodward hydroxylation procedure,³⁰ for example, provided a method for net *cis*-hydroxylation (Scheme 7). The intermediate *trans*-haloester solvolyzed with acetate participation. Interception by water of the onium ion produced a *cis*-diol monoacetate.

An effort has been made to modify, or improve upon, the Woodward hydroxylation procedure; in particular to circumvent the use of silver salts (Scheme 7). Vic-iodoacetates, which are available as trans addition products (olefin, I2, KIO3, acetic acid)^{\$1} were converted via corresponding iodohydrins to cis-diols in refluxing aqueous acetic acid (76%).⁸² Alternatively, the sequence of alkene \rightarrow cis-diol could be carried out using the same reagents without isolation of intermediates in 70% yield after saponification (Scheme 7).²² Trans iodoacetates and iodotrifluoroacetates reacted with meta-chloroperbenzoic acid to substitute OH for 1.53 This replacement occurred with inversion of configuration, hence the products were glycol monoesters of (net) syn addition. Parenthetically, the reaction was found useful for converting primary (but not secondary) alkyl iodides to alcohols. Vic-diol derivatives which were products of (net) syn addition were also available through reaction of alkenes with iodine tristrifluoroacetate⁸⁴ (I₂, fuming nitric acid and trifluoroacetic anhydride)⁸⁵ or with thallic trifluoroacetate.⁸⁶ Additional experiments indicated that the bis-trifluoroacetates from the jodine tris-trifluoroacetate reactions were formed from intermediate trans-iodoesters by further reaction with iodine trifluoroacetate. Positive iodine in the solution was responsible for electrophilic pull on bound iodine with solvent displacement occurring from the rear. Trans-2-iodocyclohexanol trifluoroacetate exposed to iodine tris-trifluoroacetate in pentane formed the bis-trifluoroacetate (95% cis). These reactions are summarized in Scheme 7. In analogous fashion the reaction of 5α -cholest-2-ene with thallic trifluoroacetate in acetic acid produced mostly the $2\beta_3\beta_3$ -diol (9:1) after saponification.⁴⁶ The authors noted that a 5-hydroxyl group facilitated the reaction and produced a cleaner syn addition.

These (net) syn additions to form vic diols, or their esters, share in common the generation of vic-functionalization of the more hindered side of, for example, cyclic olefins offering steric differentiation of direction of initial electrophilic attack. Thus thallic acetate converted $5-\alpha$ -cholest-2-ene to the $cis-\beta$ -diol. By contrast, osmium tetroxide and potassium permanganate oxidations produced the $cis-\alpha$ -diol.⁵⁷ Modifications to the OsO₄ dihydroxylation include the use of OsO₄ catalytically with amine oxides as the oxidizing agents⁴⁸ and the reactions of alkenes with potassium osmate-sodium chlorate.⁴⁹ A phase transfer catalysis method for vic-dihydroxylation was introduced by Weber and Shepard⁵⁰ which employs KMnO₄. The yields were comparable or better than those reported by the use of KMnO₄ or OsO₄ in prior methodology.⁵⁷ An interesting photochemical reaction of cyclohexane with nitrobenzene produced an unstable 1,3,2-dioxazolidine which upon hydrogenation over platinum yielded 51% cis-1,2-dihydroxycyclohexane (and aniline).⁹¹

P. E. SONNET

Several procedures are available for the conversion of alkenes to *cis*-1,2-dihalogen adducts. Uemura and co-workers reported that antimony pentachloride in CCl₄ reacted with cyclohexene producing *cis*and *trans*-1,2-dichlorocyclohexanes (4.36:1).⁹² Additions to the isomeric 2-butenes likewise yielded a predominance of *syn* addition. The reactions of the isomeric 2-octenes, however, were much less selective. Triphenylphosphine dibromide reacted with cyclohexene oxide producing mixtures of the diastereomeric 1,2-dibromides.⁹³ The *cis*-1,2-dichloride, however, was obtained from the epoxide in 80% yield and 95% geometrical purity with triphenylphosphine in CCl₄,⁹⁴ and in 72% yield free of *trans*isomer by reaction of the epoxide with triphenylphosphine dichloride.⁹⁵ The initial product of epoxide cleavage, probably a *trans*-chlorooxyphosphorane,⁹⁶ suffered a second nucleophilic displacement by chloride, producing triphenylphosphine oxide as the byproduct (Scheme 8). Yields of dibromides from both *cis*- and *trans*-1,2-dialkylepoxides reacted stereospecifically with triphenylphosphine dichloride to efficiently provide *erythro* and *threo* dichlorides, respectively. Chlorine in DMF reacted with cyclopentene and cyclohexene forming *trans*-1,2-haloiminium salts (Scheme 8).⁹⁸ Displacement of the iminium



substituent was achieved with chloride, bromide, iodide, and thiocyanate ions giving the corresponding *cis* adducts in 40-60% yields. The successful backside displacement of a substituent adjacent to a Cl-bearing carbon can be attributed to the relatively high energy of a chloronium ion⁹⁹ which, apparently, did not intercede in any of the reactions described above whether the carbon framework was cyclic (which should tend to favor such interaction from an initial *trans* adduct) or not.

An intriguing reaction was that of chromyl chloride with olefins. Chloroketones were found to be the principal products when reactions were conducted in acetone,¹⁰⁰ but at low temperatures in CH₂Cl₂. vic-chlorohydrine and epoxides were the major products formed.¹⁰¹ In fact, if the reaction was conducted with acetyl chloride as a cosolvent, chloroacetates were formed in 50-90% yields.¹⁰² Cis-5-decene yielded a chloroacetate in which the threo: erythro ratio was 2:1; the trans-olefin produced a threo: erythro ratio of 45:1. Trans-cyclododecene produced the threo-isomer (19:1), and cyclohexene gave a chloroacetate in which three predominated (25:1). The reaction of (2)-1-deuterio-1decene, 18 (Scheme 9) produced erythro- and threo-2-chloro-1-acetoxy-1-deuteriodecane, 19 (Scheme 9) in a ratio of 4:1. A mechanistic picture was derived by Sharpless to account for the (previously)¹⁰¹ observed formation of cis-1,2-dichlorides and epoxides, as well as the tendency to produce cischloroacetates by depicting an initial Cr^{v1}-olefin II-complex, 20, which either was transformed into the frontside addition product, 21, or into the cyclic structure, 22. Both of these possible intermediates involved formal C-Cr σ -bonds. The chlorometallated structure could undergo a reductive elimination to form the cis-dichloride or could rearrange to the chlorochromate, 23; both processes would have to proceed with retention of configuration on carbon. The cyclic intermediate, 22, similarly rearranged to the chlorochromate or underwent a 1,2-shift leading to epoxide via 24.103 Chloroacetate production. therefore, was viewed as a competition between interception of the chlorochromate yielding a cisaddition product, and reaction of the acetyl chloride with the epoxide producing the anti diastereomer.



(c) Anti eliminations summarized

In order to complete an olefin inversion following syn or (net) syn addition, an anti reductive elimination must be accomplished. The most commonly observed stereochemical consequence for reduction of vic-disubstituted compounds has been anti. Hence, olefins may be protected as anti adducts from which they are subsequently recovered by reductive elimination.¹⁰⁴ Miller et al., exhaustively studied reducing agents for meso- and d,1-stilbene dibromides. The meso-dibromide gave trans-stilbene with all reducing agents examined. Reductions of the d,1-isomer gave variable stereochemical results. Anionic species (iodide, benzenesulfinate, phenylthiolate and hydride) as well as Pt^{2+} gave 75–90% dis-stilbene (the product of anti reduction), while one-electron agents (β -naphthol, cuprous, ferrous, chromous, titanous) produced stilbene that was 96–100% trans. Metals (Zn, Cd, Sn) gave variable results.

For aliphatic systems, reductive elimination by iodide likewise generally proceeded with anti stereochemistry.¹⁰⁵ Since the anti reductions were first order in iodide as well as dibromide,¹⁰⁶ the mechanism had for some time been viewed as a concerted loss of both groups which were being eliminated. Very careful kinetic studies by Miller's group^{107,108} led to the proposal of a stepwise ionic path for debromination and a reiteration of the suggestion that considerable mechanistic simplification was achieved if one viewed such eliminations as ionic retroadditions or solvolytic eliminations (Scheme 10).¹⁰⁹ When conformational alignment of the departing groups may be easily attained (such is the case for an erythro compound), the elimination is stereospecifically anti and evidence for a short-lived "onium" ion intermediate has not been obtained. The iodide ion could be involved in aiding the formation of the onium ion or reacting with a small equilibrium concentration of such an ion to drive the reaction toward olefin (and trihalide ion). Reduction of d_1 -stilbene dibromide, however, was best explained by intervention of aryl-stabilized carbonium ions. The phenyl substituents of the stilbenes aggravated the steric stress for proper conformational alignment during the reduction of the d.1dibromide, and they stabilized the incipient carbonium ions. By comparison, reduction of aliphatic 1,2-dibromides was more nearly stereospecifically anti from both diastereomers (however, see the section dealing with (net) syn eliminations).

Recently described modifications and additions to the methodology for elimination by iodide include the use of hexadecyltributylphosphonium bromide as a phase transfer catalyst in a toluene-H₂O system.¹¹⁰ Sodium iodide was used catalytically and sodium thiosulfate was employed to regenerate iodide ion. The reduction of *meso*-stilbene dibromide was cleanly *anti*, and the *d*,1-dibromide provided



R = alkyl: less crossover from <u>threo</u> diastereomer. R = phenyl: considerable crossover.

Scheme 10.

much purer *cis*-stilbene (89%) than had been heretofore obtained. Sodium iodide reductions of methoxy-mercuration adducts (*anti* elimination) have been described,¹¹¹ and sodium iodide was also effective for the reduction of epoxides in acetic acid (probably proceeding via iodoesters or iodo-hydrins).¹¹² In the latter reaction zinc has been used as a coreagent.¹¹³ Zinc and sodium iodide likewise have been combined for reducing ditosylates, although the stereochemical outcome was not evaluated.¹¹⁴

Sodium sulfide was employed to reduce vic-dinitro compounds.¹¹³ This particular reduction was light-catalyzed and probably proceeded via radical anions. Therefore the reaction would be expected to lack stereospecificity. Sodium selenide reduced 1,2-dibromides to terminal alkenes producing Se as the byproduct,¹¹⁶ and sodium dithionite in refluxing DMF converted meso-stilbene dibromide quantitatively to trans-stilbene.¹¹⁷ This apparent syn-elimination was probably due to cis-trans isomerization of the product, however, because each of the 2,3-dibromobutanes produced 1:1 mixtures of 2-butenes under these conditions. Another reduction involving sodium dithionite employed DMSO as the solvent¹¹⁸ under which conditions erythro-1,2-dibromo-1-phenyl alkanes were reduced to (E)-1-phenylalkenes by anti elimination. This reagent, as well as thiourea,¹¹⁹ has doubtful utility for the debromination of phenyl substituted systems (yields were low and pure cis not obtained), but may be worth examining with aliphatic dibromides. Reduction of vic-dihalides by mercaptides was thwarted by S_N2 displacement even in simple aliphatic systems.¹²⁰ Additionally, it should be noted that potassium selenocyanate in DMF reduced vic-ditosylates but the stereochemistry of the reaction has apparently not been examined.¹²¹

Lithium aluminum hydride reduced vic-dibromides and bromotosylates to olefins.¹²² Favorable geometry encouraged anti-elimination, but substitution of hydride and syn-elimination occurred also. Sodium hydride-sodium tert-amyloxide in THF reduced dibromides to olefins, but dehydrohalogenation was also observed.¹²³ The reactions of this reagent and related "activated" hydrides with vic-disubstituted aliphatics have not been reported as yet. Reductions with tributyltin hydride were non-stereospecific.¹²⁴

Lithium dialkyl cuprates reduced (rather than alkylated) vic-dibromides.¹²⁵ Reduction of d,1-stilbene dibromide at -78° gave a 9:1 (E:Z) product. Did cis-stilbene isomerize to trans (at -78°) or was a syn mechanism operative? Tests of the reaction stereochemistry in aliphatic substrates would be interesting. Electrochemical reductions also tend to produce anti-elimination.¹²⁶

Other reagents which bear negative charge and which have been shown to effect dehalogenation of vic-dibromides include potassium diphenylphosphide,¹²⁷ phenyllithium¹²⁸ and trialkyl phosphites.¹²⁹ The phenyllithium-induced elimination of the diastereomeric 2,3-dibromobutanes was almost completely stereospecific (*meso* gave 99.5% E-2-butene; d,1 gave 97.8% Z-2-butene).¹²⁸ Elimination with phosphite

esters succeeded only if the halogens were activated (by an adjacent electron withdrawing group) toward displacement; otherwise the normally observed Michaelis-Arbuzov reaction prevailed.¹³⁰

Corey and Grieco reported the reductive elimination of a *trans*-iodohydrin with methanesulfonylchloride in pyridine.¹³¹ Prompted by this observation, the iodohydrin was treated with POCl₃-pyridine omitting the usual reducing agents (Sn^{2+}, Zn) .¹¹³ The authors suggested that the intermediate iodomesylate (iodophosphate) may have reversibly eliminated, perhaps assisted by pyridine. The reducing agent then acted simply to drive the reaction to completion. A subsequent investigation showed that iodohydrins derived from the 4-octenes were reduced completely *anti* by POCl₃-pyridine although the yields were only 35–50%.¹³² Certain iodoacetates and trifluoroacetates likewise have been observed to eliminate in refluxing acetic acid¹³³ without an added reducing agent. Coumarin and isocoumarin dibromides were debrominated in refluxing DME with 1,8-*bis*-dimethylaminonaphthalene,¹³⁴ a reagent which does not quaternize with trimethyloxonium tetrafluoroborate. Perhaps again the added reagent merely acted to scavenge bromine from the onium ion which might have been in equilibrium with the dibromide.

Reductive eliminations catalyzed by any of several metals have often lacked stereospecificity.¹⁰⁶ Zinc¹³⁵ had been shown to reduce vic-dibromides by anti-elimination¹³⁶ although a more searching subsequent study indicated deviation from complete stereospecificity (d,1-3,4-dibromohexane gave 6.4% trans-3-hexene; d,1-4,5-dibromooctane gave 19.5% trans-4-octene: Zn in hot aqueous ethanol).^{137,138} Epoxides,¹³⁹ halohydrins,¹⁴⁰ diol monoacetates,¹⁴¹ and vic-halotrifluoroacetates¹⁴² have been reduced with Zn in acetic acid but the reactions have only tended toward anti-elimination. Magnesium amalgam reportedly reduced epoxides to olefins in fair yield in the presence of magnesium bromide,^{143e} (stereochemistry not reported) and calcium amalgam reduced vic-dinitro compounds.^{143b} However, magnesium (THF) reduced both meso and d,1-dibromobutanes stereospecifically anti.¹³⁷ Parenthetically, sodium reduced both dibromides to the same mixture of 2-butenes,¹³⁷ although sodium was found useful for obtaining cyclic alkenes.^{143c} An intriguing Sn-Cu reduction of the tetrabromide 25 (Scheme 11) to a



conjugated diene (53% yield) has been described.¹⁴⁴ The eliminated halogens, however, required activation and the reduction proceeded sluggishly, if at all, with ethylene dibromide.

Chromous salts¹⁴⁵ have been employed for the reduction of *vic*-difunctionalized aliphatics¹⁴⁶ and, because one-electron, or radical-promoted, reductions by metal salts produce carbon radical intermediates, these reductions only have utility for molecules with structural bias; e.g. alicyclics. McMurry has prepared Ti^{2+} from TiCl₃ with LAH.¹⁴⁷ Reduction of halohydrins was, as expected, not stereo-specific. Titanocene ({C₁₀H₁₀Ti}₂) reduced *vic*-dibromides and dichlorides to olefins, but the stereochemical consequences of this reduction have not been assessed.¹⁴⁶ Cu(I) has also been used to reduce *vic*-dibromides¹⁴⁹ (stereospecificity not expected). Anion radicals, namely those formed from sodium and α -dimethylaminonaphthalene,¹⁵⁰ anthracene,¹⁵¹ and naphthalene,¹⁵¹ reduced *vic*-dimesylates to alkenes. Interestingly, zinc did not reduce dimesylates even in refluxing acetic acid.¹⁵¹ It should also be mentioned that hydrazine has been employed to reduce dimesylates¹⁵² and azidotosylates.¹⁵³

Elimination of other *vic*-disubstituted compounds such as β -hydroxysilanes, phosphorus betaines, etc. will be deferred to the section dealing with epoxides. Such compounds are more generally obtained from epoxides than from alkenes, and elimination does not require the mediation of a reducing agent.

(d) Syn eliminations summarized

The elimination of bromine from d,1- and *meso*-dibromobutanes with sodium iodide was completely anti (as judged by physical measurements conventionally employed at the time).¹⁵⁴ In contrast, Schubert et al. showed that *meso*-1,2-dideuterio-1,2-dibromoethane, 26, with potassium iodide produced pure (Z)-1,2-dideuterioethylene in 93-94% yield,¹⁵⁵ although reduction with zinc produced the expected (E)-isomer (Scheme 12). The apparent anomaly was explained by an initial displacement of bromide by iodide ion from carbon if a primary carbon was involved, whereas direct elimination occurred when both carbons were secondary.



It is interesting to speculate on the possibility of a true syn-elimination of such vic-disubstituted compounds. A theoretical explanation for the E2 mechanism of HX elimination which explained the preference for anti stereochemistry has been advanced.¹⁵⁶ A dihedral angle of 180° between leaving groups (referring to HX elimination) maximized orbital overlap and, hence, minimized transition state energy. However, calculations indicated that a 0° dihedral angle, or syn-periplanar conformation for elimination was at a potential energy minimum,¹⁵⁷ and syn HX elimination has been observed.¹⁵⁸ Since the rotational energy for a given acyclic molecule would generally be higher for the syn (eclipsed) conformation than for the anti, syn-eliminations are not commonly observed unless, perhaps, the two leaving groups are first bonded together.

Twenty-one years after the experiments of Schubert et al.¹⁵⁵ it was observed that vic-dichlorides and bromochlorides derived from internal alkenes likewise underwent (net) syn-elimination with iodide ion¹⁵⁹ with 93-100% stereospecificity. Here, too, it was concluded that displacement of chloride (bromide) preceded elimination of iodine halide. In order for these reactions to succeed stereospecifically it was necessary for the elimination of the presumed intermediate iodochloride to proceed much faster than displacement of iodide by iodide from carbon. In the dibromide series, erythro compounds reduced faster with iodide than did the threo-isomers, presumably because it was easier to attain the preferred trans-antiplanar alignment of bromines. If the reaction had been a true syn-elimination one would expect the threo-isomer to react faster; i.e. threo should more easily attain the conformation with the halogens in close proximity (Scheme 13). Erythro isomers reduced more readily; thus no evidence was found to favor a strictly syn-elimination.



Net syn eliminations have also been observed when vic-chloro- and bromotrifluoroacetates were treated with sodium iodide.¹⁶⁰ Reduction of mesylates and tosylates with sodium iodide proceeded readily for terminal olefins;¹⁶¹ the more sluggish reaction of secondary sulfonates can proceed via (net) syn elimination. For example, the ditosylate of meso-3,4-dihydroxyhexa-1,5-diyne produced (Z)-hexa-1,5-diyne-3-ene.¹⁶² The reduction was performed in refluxing 2-ethoxyethoxyethanol under vacuum removing the enediyne as it formed. Another example of reductive elimination of ditosylates was reported by Semmelhack¹⁶³ who reduced the cis-ditosylate 27 (Scheme 14) with sodium iodide to obtain the spiro {4.4}-nonatriene. These reductions seem to have been exploited primarily in sugar chemistry,¹⁶⁰ and their utility for olefin inversion has apparently not been assessed.



Several very intriguing stereoselective or stereospecific syn eliminations of vic-diols have been reported. Treatment of cis-1,2-dihydroxycyclododecane as its dialkoxide with dipotassium hexachlorotungstate¹⁶⁵ in THF under reflux produce cis-cyclododecene (93% purity)¹⁶⁶ whereas the trans-diol produced 79% trans-olefin. This syn elimination was particularly noteworthy as it constituted the first instance of a formal reversal of osmium tetraoxide dihydroxylation. Comparable stereochemical results were obtained when the diols were converted first to cyclic amidophosphates (Scheme 15), and then



reduced with either lithium/NH₃ or titanium/THF.¹⁶⁷ The reduction was viewed as proceeding through a radical anion. Either the radical anion, or a subsequently derived dianion, could undergo some inversion prior to elimination. Titanium (obtained by the reduction of titanium trichloride with lithium aluminum hydride)¹⁶⁶ reduced *vic*-diols with some *syn*-selectivity also. *Meso*-5,6-decanediol was reduced to a 6:4 (*E*:*Z*) ratio of 5-decenes, while the *d*,1-diol yielded a 9:1 mixture of *E*:*Z*.

A unique reduction of vic-dibromides with bis-trimethylsilyl (or germyl) mercury has been reported.¹⁶⁹ The three diastereomer of 2,3-dibromo-4-methylpentane 54 produced E-4-methyl-2-pentene quantitatively (Scheme 16). The erythro-isomer yielded the Z-alkene. The reactions were 96-98% stereoselective. Reductions of dibromoethane to ethylene by these and closely similar reagents had been reported previously.¹⁷⁰ Further work to delineate the scope and mechanism of this interesting transformation needs to be accomplished.



Similarly, erythro produced the Z-alkene

Scheme 16.

(c) Inversions exemplified

In 1937, Young et al.^{11a} found that treatment of meso-4,5-dihydroxyoctane with zinc bromide in HBr at 20° afforded a vic-dibromide which upon treatment with a copper-activated zinc in ethanol produced (Z)-4-octene (Scheme 17). The glycol had undergone an odd number of inversions of configuration. Judging from later studies of the stereochemistry of reactions of 3-bromo-2-butanols,¹⁷¹ the intermediate 5-bromo-4-octanol reacted with retention of configuration. Similarly, the d,1-glycol ultimately was converted to (E)-4-octene via the intermediate meso-dibromide. The meso-glycol also produced 4,4-dibromooctane during the bromination step, an indication that stereospecificity and high yields by solvolytic pathways for olefin inversion would not always be the case. This same sequence of reactions was subsequently employed to prepare elaidic acid from palmitoleic acid after an initial two carbon

P. E. SONNET



meso-diol had been obtained from (E)-4-octene.
d_1-diol, obtained from (Z)-4-octene ultimately gave (E)-4-octene.

$$R = \underline{n}-C_3H_7$$
Scheme 17

chain extension;¹⁷² the anti addition of two hydroxyl groups being accomplished with performic acid followed by base.

Another rather laborious, but exactingly performed, inversion sequence was described by Lucas *et al.* in 1941 (Scheme 18).¹¹⁵ Alkenes were converted to epoxides by addition of hypobromous acid and



cyclization (net retention of geometry). Ring cleavage provided the corresponding diols (one inversion) which were then acetylated. Treatment of the diacetates with HBr provided dibromides which were the result of one inversion. Zinc debromination (*anti* elimination) completed the sequence. The inversions of Young¹¹^a and Lucas^{11b} have in common the replacement of vicinal oxygen functions with bromine (OH in the former; OAc in the latter). In both cases the first C-Br bond was formed by S_N2 displacement; the initially installed bromine then assisted in the second C-O cleavage thus inducing retention for the second replacement.

An interesting sequence was devised involving initial chlorine addition (anti), KOH-promoted elimination of HCl, and finally sodium/liquid ammonia reduction (Scheme 19).¹⁷³ Cristol¹⁷⁴ had



established that the dehydrochlorination step was *anti*, and the isolation of olefins geometrically isomeric to the starting materials established that the alkali metal reduction had proceeded with retention of configuration (an early indication that the configuration of vinyl anions might be preserved). Overall yields averaged 81% and stereospecificity was 94–97% for several simple *cis* and *trans* alkenes.

The conversion of epoxides to vic-dihalides by double inversion formally constitutes a (net) syn addition to a double bond,⁹³⁻⁹⁵ and was exploited as the basis for olefin inversion.⁹⁷ Erythro-dibromides were cleanly prepared from Z-epoxides with triphenylphosphine dibromide in benzene (Scheme 20)

Net syn addition; anti elimination



Anti-addition; net syn-elimination (exemplified with E-alkene)



while both diastereomeric dichlorides were prepared stereospecifically from Z- and E-epoxides. Although reductions of the *erythro* dibromides with zinc were stereospecific, reductions of the dichlorides with several reagents usually employed for *anti* elimination gave variable results. *Threo*-bromochlorides could be obtained from E-epoxides by the sequence of HCl addition (one inversion) and triphenyl-phosphine dibromide to replace the hydroxyl group (one inversion) (Scheme 20). Zinc reduction could be made *ca* 90% selective if carried out as $0-5^{\circ}$ in DMF.

Net syn eliminations of meso-1,2-dideuterio-1,2-dibromoethane,¹⁵³ vic-dichlorides and bromochlorides,¹⁵⁹ and vic-chloro (and bromo) trifluoroacetates¹⁶⁰ have already been mentioned. These reactions have been used to invert olefin geometry, the vicinally substituted compounds having been first obtained by anti addition. The vic-halotrifluoroacetates had been obtained either directly from the alkenes with N-chloro(bromo) succinimide in trifluoroacetic acid, or from the epoxides with trifluoroacetyl chloride or bromide (Scheme 20).

Another example of olefin inversion, involving a Walden inversion sandwiched between two anti processes, uses the nucleophilicity of selenocyanate (Scheme 21).¹⁷³ Bromohydrins were converted to *vic*-hydroxyselenides with KSeCN in DMF.¹⁷⁶ Anti elimination was promoted with potassium carbonate to produce an olefin of inverted geometry. The overall yields were modest and the reactions were only stereoselective.

In summary, many readily available reagents can be used to achieve olefin inversion by a series of displacements incorporated within an addition-elimination scheme. The several transformations which occur, however, may lose stereospecificity if the olefinic substrate is prone to rearrangement or has the



R = various alkyl groups

Similarly for conversion of E to Z-isomers

Scheme 21.

potential for forming relatively stable carbonium ions. Moreover, this approach does not have the power to invert conjugated dienes nor does it appear capable of generating highly strained double bonds. Significantly, no reports were found of the inversion of α,β -unsaturated carbonyl structures by this general method. The results of the inversion sequences described have been summarized in Table 2.

Reference	Scheme	Starting Material	Product	Yield, Sa	Stereoselectivity.
Ца	17	meso-4,5-octanediol	(<u>E</u>)-4-octene	49	c
11a	17	d,1-4,5-octanediol	(<u>2</u>)-4-octene	41	c
11ь	18	(Z)-2-pentene	(E)-2-pentene	-22	~90– 91
116	18	(<u>E</u>)-2-pentene	(3)-2-pentene	-22	-90-91
173	19	(E)-2-pentene	(Z)-2-pentene	-66	94
173	19	(E)-2-hexene	(Z)-2-hexene	~66	97
173	19	(<u>E</u>)-3-hexene	(Z)-3-hexene	~66	96
173	19	(E)-2-octene	(Z)-2-octene	~66	96
173	19	(E)-4-octene	(Z)-4-octene	~66	96-97
173	19	(Z)-3-hexene	(E)-3-hexene	~66	97
97	20A	(\underline{Z}) -9-pentacosene oxide	(E)-9-pentacosene	75	99
97	20A	(Z)-7-octadecene oxide	(<u>E</u>)-7-octadecene	70-80	104
97	20A	(\underline{Z}) -2-methyl-7-octadecene oxide	(E)-methyl-7-octadecene	70-80	109 ^d
97	20A	(Z)-11-tetradecen-1-ol acetate	(\underline{E}) -11-acetate	70-80	102
e	20A	(Z,Z)-1,7,13-pentacosatriene	(<u>E,E</u>)-triene	44	>98
97	20B	(E)-11-tetradecen-1-01 acetate	(Z)-11-acetate	70-80	97
155	11	meso-1,2-dibromo-1,2-f dideuterioethylene	$(\underline{Z}) - 1, 2$ -dideuterioethylene	~60	93-94
159	g	(Z)-2-methy1-7-octadecene	(E)-2-methyl-7-octadecene	-	100(I) ^E
159	g	(E)=2-methyl=7-octadecene	(Z)-2-methyl-7-octadecene	88(I), 95(II)	96(I), 100(II) ^g
159	8	(Z)-7-octadecene	(E)-7-octadecene	67(1), 79(II)	100(I), 97(II) ⁵
159	8	(<u>E</u>)-8-dodecen-1-ol acetate	(<u>Z</u>)-8-acetate	95(I), -(II)	93(I), 93(II) ⁸
160	200	(Z)-3-octene oxide	(E)-3-octene	>85 ^h	100(I), 100(II) ⁿ
160	20C	(E)-3-octene oxide	(<u>Z</u>)-3-octene	>85 ⁿ	100(I), 94(II) ⁿ
160	200	(Z)-5-decene oxide	(E)-5-decene	>85 ⁿ	99(I) ⁿ
160	200	(<u>E</u>)-5-decene oxide	(<u>Z</u>)-5-decene	>85 ^h	>95(I) ⁿ
160	200	$(\overline{\underline{Z}})$ -2-methyl-7-octadecene oxide	(E)-2-methy1-7-octadecene	>85 ^h	100(I), 94(II) ⁿ
160	200	(E)-2-methyl-7-octadecene oxide	(\underline{Z}) =2-methy1=7-octadecene	>85 ⁿ	>97(I), 98.5(II) ⁿ
	200	(Z,E)-1,7,13-pentacasatriene	(<u>E,Z</u>)-triene	80	>98(I) ⁿ
169	16	erythro-2,3-dibromo-4- methylpentane	(\underline{Z}) -4-methyl-2-pentene	~100	96-98
169	16	threo-2,3-dibromo-4- methylpentane	(E)-4-methyl-2-pentens	~100	96-98
176	21	(E)-2-octene	(Z)-2-octane	45(I), 38(II)	75(I), 92(II) ¹

Table 2. Olefin inversions by addition-elimination sequences

Table 2. (Contd).

Reference	Scheme	Starting Material	Product	Yield, %ª	Stereceelectivity.
176	21	(Z)-2-octene	(E)-2-octane	39(I), 35(II)	88(I), 98(II) ¹
176	21	(<u>E</u>)-4-octene	(<u>2</u>)-4-octene	- , 26(II)	70(I), 90(II) ¹
176	21	(Z)-1-methoxy-9-octadecene	$(\underline{\underline{E}}) = 1 - asthoxy = 9 - octadecene$	21(I), 42(II)	85(I), 88(II) ¹
176	21	(<u>E</u>)-2-decene	(<u>Z</u>)-2-decene	54(I), 56(II)	$72(1), 92(11)^{1}$
176	21	(<u>Z</u>)-2-decene	(E)-2-decene	58(I), 35(II)	70(I), 91(II) ¹
176	21	(<u>Z</u>)2-decene	(<u>E</u>)-2-decene	58(1), 35(II)	γ U(1), 91(11) -

a Isolated.

^b Calculation was based on initial geometrical composition.

^C Quantitative data not available. Yields were probably >95%.

^d Initial composition was 85% Z, and the product alkene was 93% E. The E-to-Z conversion was not stereospecific.

e P.E.Sonnet, J.Chem.Ecol. (in press).

^f Obtained by adding bromine to the <u>E-alkene</u>.

^g Data labeled (I) refer to bromine chloride adducts; (II) refers to chlorine adducts.

h Yields were determined by glc and were >89%. Data labeled (I) refer to reactions involving <u>vic</u>-chlorotrifluoroacetates; (II) refers to reactions involving <u>vic</u>-bromotrifluoroacetates.

Data labeled (I) refer to reactions involving potassium thiocyanate; (II) refers to reactions involving potassium selenocyanate.

3. CLEAVAGE OF EPOXIDES FOLLOWED BY ANTI OR SYN ELIMINATION

(a) Synthesis of epoxides summarized

Recent intense interest in the stereospecific deoxygenation of epoxides prompts a separate discussion of olefin inversion processes (potential as well as realized) that could be brought about by the reduction of an epoxide. Cleavage of epoxides to form *trans*-diols, *vic*-dihalides, and haloesters followed by a separate reduction of these adducts has already been discussed. The emphasis in this section will be on reagents that reduce epoxides to olefins by means of a nucleophilic cleavage followed (usually directly) by elimination (Scheme 22).



Sequence demonstrated with a Z-epoxide and a charged nucleophile

Scheme 22.

Various syntheses of epoxides from olefins have been compiled.¹⁷⁷ Generally, the most common preparations (peracid oxidation and *anti* HOX-addition followed by base-promoted cyclization) provided epoxides of the same geometry as that of the starting olefin. Recent methods for epoxidizing olefins with retention of geometry are: Mo(CO)₆ and hydroperoxides¹⁷⁸ or peracids,¹⁷⁸ peroxyacetyl nitrate,¹⁷⁹ N-bromoacetamide followed by KOH,¹⁸⁰ bromine-DMF (yielding *vic*-bromoformates) followed by hydroxide,¹⁸¹ phenyl isocyanate-H₂O₂,¹⁸² ferric acetylacetonate-H₂O₂,¹⁸²⁶ and *bis*-1,2,4-triazolyl ketone-H₂O₂.¹⁸³ Iodine-Ag₂O has been employed to prepare epoxides from olefins¹⁸⁴ as has iodine-sodium ethoxide.¹⁸⁴⁶ A polymer-bound peracid has been described for this purpose,¹⁸³⁶ and a two phase system (*m*-chloroperbenzoic acid in methylene chloride is the oxidizing phase), in which aqueous NaHCO₃ neutralizes *m*-chlorobenzoic and thereby acts to protect acid-sensitive functionality, has also been reported.¹⁸³⁶ In order to complete an olefin inversion following such epoxidations, the epoxide must be reduced to an olefin with inversion of configuration.

P. E. SONNET

The preparation of vicinal *cis*-diol monoesters (previous section), for example, offers potential for olefin inversion via the inverted epoxide. However, this seems not to have been systematically studied. Since *vic*-diols can be obtained by *syn*- as well as *anti*-addition (as already discussed), the potential for inversion of olefin geometry is implicit in any sequence that transforms a diol stereospecifically into an epoxide. Two examples of such transformation have arisen from the interest in arene oxides.¹⁸⁷ Goh and Harvey described the reaction of *trans*-diols with dimethylformamide dimethylacetal.¹⁸⁸ Epoxides were formed in 50–80% yields with one inversion of configuration of carbon (Scheme 23). In another



Scheme 23.

sequence, Dansette and Jerina converted *cis*-diols to epoxides with two inversions of carbon (Scheme 23).¹³⁹ Dioxolanes, 99, prepared from the diols with trimethyl orthoacetate were reacted with trimethylchlorosilane. The resulting *trans*-chloroacetates, 100, were then cyclized in methanol containing sodium methoxide. Overall yields were 43-56%. Although more work on the preparation of epoxides from olefins with structural inversion would be desirable, it seems fair to surmise that olefin-to-olefin inversions are possible, culminated via either *syn*- or *anti*-reduction of epoxides.

(b) Reductions of (and olefin inversions from) epoxides summarized

A wide variety of heterocyclic nucleophiles react with epoxides to generate β -hydroxy (or oxido) intermediates. Some of these are isolable (see below and Scheme 24), and a controlled elimination can be performed in a discrete second step. In other instances the product of ring cleavage suffers elimination directly. These same intermediates can often be prepared as well by the reaction of aldehydes or ketones with α -heteroatom-stabilized anions. In fact, one major element of current research in organometallic chemistry is the generation of such β -hydroxy (or oxido) derivatives diastereomerically pure^{190,191} since their decomposition to alkenes can often be directed with syn or anti specificity.

Olefination of carbonyl compounds with α -silyl carbanions has been described.¹⁹² In a related study that led to the knowledge of elimination stereochemistry, the α -ketosilane 28 was stereospecifically reduced to the *threo* β -hydroxysilane 29 with diisobutylaluminum hydride (Scheme 24).¹⁹³ Acid treat-



ment provided the usual anti elimination observed with, e.g. β -halosilanes,¹⁹⁴ while syn elimination predominated when the β -hydroxysilane was converted to an oxy anion with potassium hydride. That the stereochemistry of the acid-catalyzed elimination reaction was anti, while that of the base-promoted elimination was syn, was determined by examining the constitution of olefins obtained by reactions of epoxysilanes with organocuprates (Scheme 24).¹⁹⁵ The cis epoxysilane 30 reacted with lithium dipropylcuprate to give presumably the erythro isomer which was reduced to (Z)- and (E)-4-octenes with base and acid, respectively. An analogous set of transformations was performed on the trans-epoxysilane 31. While research is continuing to explore the several possible approaches to generating diastereomerically pure β -hydroxysilanes¹⁹⁴ for the purpose of creating di- and trisubstituted olefins stereospecifically, advantage has been taken of the knowledge that silylmetallic reagents react stereospecifically with epoxides,¹⁹⁶ in order to obtain diastereomerically pure β -hydroxysilanes. Epoxides and dimethylphenylsilyllithium reacted presumably to form the β -lithium oxidosilyl derivative which eliminated directly (Scheme 25).¹⁹⁷ Cis- and trans-stilbene oxides were reduced with inversion (97-99%). Yields were high

for reduction of terminal epoxides; no information was available for epoxides of other internal olefins. In another study trimethylsilylpotassium (from hexamethyldisilane and KOMe) also reduced epoxides to inverted olefins directly (Scheme 25).¹⁹⁶ The inversion was virtually stereospecific (98–99%) for both diand trisubstituted epoxides. Reductions of epoxides are summarized in Tables 3 (reduction with retention of geometry) and 4 (reduction with inversion).

Reference	Scheme	Product	Yield, 5 ^b	Stereospecificity, %
105	~ _	(tt) (C		100
195	~		93, X	100
195	24	(Z)-A-nonene	98,A	98
199	đ	(<u>Z</u>)-2-butana	-	100
199	d	(\underline{E}) -2-butene	-	100
206	-	(<u>E</u>)-stilbene	83,&	100
224a	8	(E)-4-octene	e	>95
224a	8	(<u>Z</u>)-2-oct ene	8	>95
2245	e	1-dodecene	70	e
224b	•	(E)-7-tetradecene	88	•
224b	e	2-methyl-2-tridecene	80,90	· •
224b	e	2-methy1-2-nonene	80	
224b		2,3-dimethy1-2-dodecene	83	•
224b	e	2,3-dimethy1-4-pheny1-2-butene	85	e
225	32	1-octene	71,B	-
225	32	(<u>E</u>)-2-octene	68,B	-100
225	32	(Z)-2-octene	73,B	~100
225	32	(<u>Z</u>)-stilbene	-71,B	97.5
225	32	cyclohexene	53,B	-
230	34	cyclohexene	100,B	-
230	34	atyrene	90,B	-
230	34	vinyl chloride	100,D	-
230	34	(<u>E</u>)-stilbene	97,A	f
230	34	(Z)-stilbene	95,A	ſ
232	35	(<u>7</u>)-2-butene	64,A ⁸	>98
232a	35	(E)-2-butane	50, A ⁶	>98

Table 3. Reductions of epoxides with retention of geometry^a

Ρ.	E.	SONNET
----	----	--------

Table 3. (Contd).

	Scheme	Product	Yield, Sb	Stereospecificity, %
232a	35	(Z)-stilbens	82,A ^g	>98
232a	35	(E)-stilbens	83, A ⁶	>98
232a	35	(E)-ethyl crotonate	96,A ⁸	>98
233	h	(Z)-stilbene	22,A	i
233	h	(E)-stilbens	22,A	1
234	j	(<u>E</u>)-cyclododecene,I,IV,VI,VIII	98,B	95
234	j	(<u>Z</u>)-cyclododecene,I	89,B	95
234	t	(<u>E</u>)-4-octene,II + 2L1I	97,B	>98
234	t	(Z)-4-octene,V	81,B	93
234	j	(E)-stilbens,I	86,B	100
234	t	(Z)-stilbene,I	89,B	8
234	j	1-dodecene,I	80,B	•
234	J	4-ethylcyclohexene,I	75,B	-
234	t	geranicl methyl ether, I	37,B	72
234	j	citronellol methyl ether,I	83,B	-
234	t	stignasterol acetate, ^k II	83,B	-
240	37	cyclohexene	77,B	-
240	37	1-decene	91 , A	-
240	37	(<u>Z</u>)-5-decene	95,A	-100
240	37	(<u>E</u>)-5-decene	95 , A	~100
240	37	(Z)-2-methyl-7-octadecene	90,B	~100
240	37	(E)-2-methyl-7-octadecene	90,B	>99.5
241	37	1-dodecene	60,B	-
241	37	5-androst-2-en-17-one	99,A	. 🗕
241	37	methyl elaidate	99 , A	i
241	37	methyl cleate	95,A	í
241	37	methyl (Z)-13-docomenoate	86,A	i
241	37	citronellol methyl ether	74 , A	-
241	37	cholest-5-ene	91 , A	-
241	37	cholest-4-en-3-one	99 , A	-

^a Starting material was the corresponding epoxide unless otherwise indicated. Reductions of geometrically symmetrical epoxides employing the reagents which were the subject of this tabulation were included for comprehensiveness.

b Account was taken of initial geometrical composition.

^C The actual starting material was derived from the reaction of a geometrically pure epoxysilane and lithium dibutylcuprate (Scheme 24) followed by <u>syn</u>elimination.

- d Elimination of S-hydroxystannanes.
- 8 Yields were good to excellent with either methyl- or phenylselenol, and refer to the <u>anti-elimination</u> of the β-bydroxyselenides. Reactions were stereospecific as judged by mer spectra of derived thionocarbonates.
- f Reaction was reportedly stereospecific.
- ⁵ Yields given are for the olefin complexes.
- h Reaction of the epoxides with iron pentacarbonyl.
- ¹ Reaction was reportedly stereospecific.
- ^j Numerals refer to several preparations of low valent tungsten and are explained below.
- k Starting material was the disposide.

Numerals for (j) above:

$$WCl_6 + 2RL1 \xrightarrow{\text{IHF}} I$$

$$WCl_6 + 3RL4 \xrightarrow{\text{IHF}} II$$

$$WCl_6 + 4RL1 \xrightarrow{\text{IHF}} III$$

$$WCl_6 + 2L1 \xrightarrow{\text{IHF}} IV$$

$$WCl_6 + 3L11 \xrightarrow{\text{IHF}} V$$

$$WCl_6 + 2L11 \xrightarrow{\text{IHF}} V$$

$$WCl_6 + 2L11 \xrightarrow{\text{IHF}} V$$

$$WCl_6 + 2L11 \xrightarrow{\text{IHF}} V$$

Reference	Scheme	Product	Yield.50	Stereospecificity, 5
195	24	(<u>E</u>)-4-nonene ^C	96-102.4	98-99
195	24	(Z)-4-nonene ^C	94-98.A	99.5
195	24	2-methy1-2-heptene ^C	79.A	-
195	24	1-hexene	86.A	_
197	25	(Z)-stilbene	75.4	×97
197	25	(E)-stilbene	83.A	200
197	25	1-pentene	60.B	-
197	25	1-octens	64.B	_
198	25	(<u>E</u>)-3-becene	99,B	200
198	25.	(Z)-3-hexene	86,B	>99
198	25	(E)-4-octene	96,B	>99
198	25	(Z)-4-octene	93.B	>99
198	25	(E)-2,5-dimethy1-3-hexens	93.B	>98
198	25	(Z)-2,5-dimethy1-3-hexene	75,B	>92
198	8	(E)-3-methy1-2-pentene	91.B	>99
198	25	(Z)-3,methyl-2-pentene	99,B	>99
208a	26	(<u>E</u>)-stilbene	95,A	>99
208a	26	(Z)-stilbene	95.A	>98
208a	26	(E)-2-octene	77,8	>99.5
208a	26	(<u>2</u>)-2-octene	75.A	>99.5
208a	26	(E)-cycloctene	70,A	>99.5
208a	26	(Z,E)-1,5-cyclooctadiene	60,A	>99.5 ^d
208a	26	$(\underline{Z},\underline{E})-1,4-cyclooctadiene$	40,A	>99.5 ^d
2065		(E)~10-nonadecen-2-one	85,A	-
208c		(E)-1-methylcyclooctene	70.A	99
209	8	(E,E)-7,11-hexadecadien-1-ol acetate	35 A ⁰	
209	e	(E,Z)-7,11-hexadecadien-1-01		~~~
		acetate	35,£®	> 99
210	28	(E)-cycloctene	46,A	99.9
210	28	(E)-1-methylcyclooctene	38,A	99.9
210	28	$(\underline{Z},\underline{E})-1,5-cyclooctadiene$	51,A ^đ	99
210	28	Tetramethylethylene	32,1	-
2325	35	$(\underline{\mathbf{E}})$ -stilbene, Method 1^{Γ}	96,A	>99
2325	35	(\underline{Z}) -stilbene, Method $2^{\underline{I}}$	92,4	94
2326	35	(\underline{E}) -2-butene, Method 2 ¹	86,A	>99
2326	35	(\underline{Z}) -2-butene, Method 2 ^I	69,A	99
2325	35	(E)-2-pentene, Method 2	61,A	>99
2325	35	(Z)-2-pentene, Method 2 ^r	63,A	>99
232b	35	$(\underline{Z},\underline{E})$ -2,4-hexadiene, Method 2 ^r	62,1	94(<u>Z,E</u>),6(E,E) ^B
2326	35	2,4-hexadiene, Method 2 ¹	51,8	45(Z,Z),48(Z,E),7(E,E)b
2326	35	(Z)-3-penten-2-one, Method 2	54,1	85 <u>Z</u> :15 <u>E</u>
2326	35	(\underline{Z}) -ethyl crotonate, Method $1^{\underline{\Gamma}}$	-	52 <u>7</u> :48 <u>E</u>
2326	35	(\underline{Z}) -ethyl crotonate, Method $2^{\underline{f}}$	93,814	53Z:47E
2326	35	(\underline{Z}) -ethyl crotonate, Method 3 ^r	76,A	572:43E
2326	35	ethyl cinnamate, Method 2	61,A	21 <u>2</u> :79
2326	35	ethyl cinnamate, Method 3 ¹	53, A	372:63E1
235	36	dimethyl mesaconate	-	95
235	36	Dimethyl citraconate	-	99

Table 4. Reductions of epoxides with inversion of geometry*

. Starting material was the corresponding epoxide unless otherwise indicated. ъ

Account was taken of initial geometrical composition. A -- isolated; B--glc; C--ran; D--dibromide derivative. С

Starting material was formally the epoxide of opposite geometry. The actual starting material was derived from the reaction of a geometrically pure epoxysilane and lithium dibutylcuprate (Scheme 24) followed by <u>anti-elimination</u>.

đ Monoepoxide of the $(\underline{2},\underline{2})$ -isomer was the starting material. .

Lower yield due in part to extra steps required for protecting the alcohol (acetate) function. Method of Yedejs and Fuchs (refer to Scheme 26). f

Method 1 - a standard reaction procedure; Method 2 - continual removal of alkene as it formed in vacuo; Method 3 - a flow method. g

Starting material was the monoepoxide of $(\underline{B},\underline{E})$ -2,4-hexadiene. h Starting material was the disposide of $(\underline{E},\underline{E})-2,4$ -hexadiene.

1 Starting material was the (\underline{E}) -isomer. Triphenylstannylsodium reacted with epoxides to produce stable β -hydroxystannanes which were diastereomerically pure.¹⁹⁹ These intermediates decomposed stereospecifically under acidic conditions; *cis*-butene oxide yielded *cis*-2-butene and the *trans*-oxide gave *trans*-olefin. As ring cleavage was expected to involve a carbon inversion, the elimination would have been *anti*. Interestingly, *syn*-elimination of the intermediate β -hydroxystannanes has not been observed.²⁰⁰

The Wittig reaction and its many phosphorus analogs²⁰¹ proceeds via β -oxidophosphorus derivatives which undergo *syn* elimination. Epoxides reacted with triphenylphosphine at elevated temperatures to give olefins;²⁰² presumably the intermediates were oxidophosphonium salts. The transformation would be expected to invert olefin geometry, but both the substrate choices and the vigorous conditions necessary for reaction precluded an assessment of reaction stereochemistry. The reduction of 2-butene oxides with tributylphosphine required 150° and the product butenes were of mixed geometry.²⁰³ Reactions of epoxides with triethyl phosphite have also been reported.²⁰⁴ Epoxyacids were reportedly converted stereospecifically by PH₄I into alkenoic acids,²⁰⁵ and diphosphorus tetraiodide (phosphorus trichloride plus sodium iodide) reduced epoxides to olefins with retention of configuration.²⁰⁶ Since 1,2-dialkylepoxides reacted less rapidly than epoxides of terminal olefins, this reagent could find use for selective reductions.

Sodium diphenylphosphide reacted with, for example, *cis*-stilbene oxides to give a β -hydroxydiphenylphosphine (Scheme 26).²⁰⁷ On treatment with methyl iodide and then ethoxide, elimination



occurred. The stilbenes were obtained with about 60-70% inversion. The thrust of this research, however, was to ascertain whether the betaines dissociated to any extent to benzaldehyde and benzylidenemethyldiphenylphosphorane. Indeed, if *m*-chlorobenzaldehyde was present, *m*-chlorostilbene was formed. The reversibility of betaine formation, therefore, precluded the inversion, at least of stilbenes, in this manner.

Vedejs *et al.*, however, discovered that if the intermediate oxidophosphines 33 (Scheme 26) were treated with methyl iodide directly, the stilbene oxides were inverted and deoxygenated stereo-specifically in good yields.²⁰⁸ A trisubstituted allylic alcohol in which the alcohol was protected as a tetrahydropyranyl ether was successfully inverted,²⁰⁸⁶ and a pair of isomeric 1,5-dienes ($\{Z,Z\}$ - and $\{Z,E\}$ -7,11-bexadecadien-1-yl acetate, which is the sex pheromone of the pink bollworm moth) were inverted by this sequence to the E,E- and E,Z-isomers, respectively.²⁰⁹ The Vedejs method of olefin

inversion from epoxides is one of the most generally applicable because both epoxide cleavage and the elimination of phosphine oxides are stereospecific. Both di- and trisubstituted olefins can be inverted, and the procedure worked well for both the synthesis of *trans*-cyclooctene (95% yield, 99.5% *trans*) and (Z,E)-1,5-cyclooctadiene (60% yield, 99.5% geometrical purity).²⁰⁰ The principal limitation of the method was the basic phosphide which was shown to be incompatible with carbonyls.²⁰⁰ Although *trans*-cycloheptene could not be synthesized in this way, valuable information was obtained concerning the fate of a betaine which could not undergo syn-elimination.²⁰⁰ The vinylphosphonium salt 38 (Scheme 27) was the principal product when the betaine 37 was heated under reflux in THF. Although



isolation of the hydroxyphosphines was complicated by the readily oxidized phosphorus, they could be isolated as crystalline salts of MeBF₄. The salts reacted in THF with added diazabicycloundecene (DBU) producing a mixture of the vinylphosphonium salt 38 and *cis*-cycloheptene. It was suggested that the cycloheptene was derived by an epimerization via the ylid 39. Furthermore, if suitable substitution prevented the elimination of hydroxyl to give a vinylphosphonium salt as in epoxide 40 (Scheme 27), retro reaction of the betaine 41 occurred to the "unstabilized" ylid 42. Further reaction of the keto group was blocked by transprotonation forming the enolates 43. Although specific experiments to effect *anti* elimination of β -hydroxyphosphorus derivatives have not been performed, it is apparent that solvolytic elimination to olefin does not occur and vinyl phosphonium salts would be isolated.²⁰¹ A modification of Vedejs' method involved H₂O₂ oxidation of the intermediate oxidophosphine 33 (Scheme 28); the elimination byproduct, a diphenylphosphinate salt, was water soluble which facilitated product isolation.²¹⁰ This sequence proceeded with stereochemical consequences equivalent to that of Vedejs.

Corey and Cane determined that β -hydroxyphosphinamides were formed stereospecifically from epoxides and lithium bisdimethylaminophosphide.²¹¹ The alcohols, which were also obtained by pro-



Scheme 28.

tonating the condensation products of carbonyl compounds and α -metallated *bis*-dimethylaminophosphinyl derivatives,²¹² were crystalline solids and could be potentially purified were they synthesized as mixtures of diastereomers. Elimination was effected by heating the alcohols in toluene at 80°. Although yields were disappointing (20%), elimination was very stereoselectively *syn* (96–99%) for the 2-butenes.

Elimination of β -hydroxysulfides, sulfones, etc. have received less attention. Reactions of aldehydes with α -lithiosulfinamides have been described.²¹³ The β -hydroxysulfinamides undergo syn elimination at 80-110° producing sulfur dioxide and the amine as byproducts. A sequence for olefin inversion was developed involving cleavage of epoxides with potassium benzyl sulfide and oxidation of the product to β -hydroxysulfinyl derivatives (Scheme 29).²¹⁴ These compounds apparently did not eliminate directly,



but further oxidation with, for example, NBS, NCS or SO₂Cl₂, produced olefin, SO₂ and benzyl halide. The reaction, which was depicted as proceeding through a β -sultine 45, succeeded best with more highly substituted epoxides. The yields were only fair, but *cis*-stilbene was obtained in >99% purity.²¹⁴ Eliminations from β -hydroxysulfides²¹⁵ and β -hydroxysulfoximides²¹⁶ have been reported (Scheme 30)



but little is known of the scope of the reactions. Also, olefins were obtained by reducing β -hydroxysulfones with Bu₃SnH.²¹⁷ In one intriguing experiment, reduction of the thiobenzoate ester of a β -hydroxysulfone 47 (a mixture of diastereomers?) gave exclusively a *trans*-alkene 48 (Scheme 31).²¹⁷

Organoselenium chemistry has been reviewed recently.^{175,218} Sodium phenylselenide cleaved epoxides with anti stereochemistry.^{215A,219} This reagent, which was prepared from diphenyldiselenide with NaBH₄ in dry ethanol,²²⁰ usually gave β -hydroxyselenides in good yield although longer reaction times were required for hindered epoxides. Both phenyl- and n-propylselenol added to epoxides if catalytic amounts of phenyl selenolate were present.²²¹ Reduction of the β -hydroxyselenides occurred when they were exposed to methanesulfonyl chloride and triethylamine.²² The intermediate mesylates (unlike the mesylates of β -hydroxysulfides)²²³ were unstable and anti elimination seemed likely based on previous research regarding the reduction of β -hydroxyselenides under acidic conditions.^{224e} A variation of this theme employed thionyl chloride and triethylamine in CH₂Cl₂ at room temperature.^{224b} The β -hydroxy-



selenides had been obtained from epoxides through addition of phenyl selenol. Di-, tri- and tetrasubstituted alkenes were obtained stereospecifically from their epoxides by overall syn elimination.

Clive and Denyer reported the stereospecific deoxygenation of epoxides with triphenylphosphine selenide and trifluoroacetic acid.²²⁵ The reaction proceeded at room temperature in CH_2Cl_2 and deposited metallic Se. In order to explain the retention of geometry the sequence in Scheme 32 was proposed



wherein a selenirane 48 spontaneously decomposed to give alkene. Episelenides, or seleniranes, have not been isolated although their formation and decomposition have been followed spectroscopically,²²⁶ and the nmr spectrum of a seleniranium salt has been reported.²²⁴⁹ Epoxides were also deoxygenated with KSeCN in methanol (Scheme 33).²²⁷ The transformation involved (net) syn elimination (>90%



P. E. SONNET

stereospecificity) and a mechanism was proposed in analogy to the reduction of bromohydrins with KSeCN described earlier.¹⁷⁶ The reaction was quite solvent-dependent²²⁸ (did not succeed in DMF or DMSO), was most successful for terminal alkenes,²²⁹ and failed with the epoxides of cyclopentene, cyclooctene and cyclododecene.²²⁸ An interesting reagent for similarly deoxygenating epoxides is 3-methyl-2-selenoxobenzothiazole **50** (Scheme 34).²³⁰ The reagent can be prepared from 3-methylben-



zothiazolium iodide 49 with selenium in pyridine. Although stilbene oxides were blained in good yield stereospecifically, information concerning the reactions of other epoxides would be useful. Epoxides were also converted to olefins with the sodium salt of 0,0-diethylphosphorotelluroate.²³¹ Terminal alkenes are readily prepared from their epoxides with this reagent.

Sodium (cyclopentadienyl) dicarbonyl ferrate, 51, cleaved epoxides in THF at, or below, room temperature (Scheme 35).²³² A syn-elimination was brought about by heating the oxidoferrate inter-



mediate by any of several methods. The protonated oxide ferrate, however, underwent *anti*-elimination. Stilbenes and 2-butenes were produced stereospecifically and in good yield. The reaction did not appear useful for α,β -unsaturated systems. Iron pentacarbonyl in tetramethylurea has been described for deoxygenating epoxides.²³³ The reactions described showed a tendency toward *syn*-elimination, and reductions to conjugated systems gave good yields, although the stereochemistry for such systems was not reported.²²³

Other syn deoxygenations of epoxides include the use of low valent tungsten. A solution obtained from tungsten hexachloride and two equivalents of butyllithium in THF deoxygenated epoxides stereospecifically.²³⁴ Other low valent tungsten preparations, and low valent molybenum may have synthetic utility too.²³⁴

Dicobalt octacarbonyl reduced epoxides with inversion of stereochemistry (Scheme 36).²³⁵ The scope of the reaction is apparently limited; no data was provided for substrates not containing α -ester groups.



However, cis-dimethyl epoxymethylsuccinate, 52, gave a product containing 95% of mesaconate ester, 53; 3% citraconate, 55; and 2% of residual epoxide. The isomeric epoxide gave 99% citraconate product. However, if only one ester group was present (methyl epoxycrotonate) the product was a 1:1 mixture of isomeric alkenoates.

Reduction of epoxides by low valent iron (ferric chloridebutyllithium) was reported,²³⁶ and magnesium amalgam in the presence of magnesium bromide has also been employed for this purpose.^{143æ} Reductions to olefins have also been accomplished using chromous salts,²³⁷ Zn-Cu,²³⁸ and low valent titanium;²³⁹ but these reactions were shown to be nonstereospecific.

Solutions of trifluoroacetyl iodide containing excess iodide ion reduced epoxides to olefins with retention of geometry also.²⁴⁰ Iodotrifluoroacetates, 56a, which were the products of bimolecular epoxide cleavage (Scheme 37) underwent *anti*-elimination at room temperature in THF--CH₃--CN. An analogous

H
$$R$$
 R H XI R R R H R H R H H R

stereospecific reduction occurred with methyl trimethoxyphosphonium iodide and boron trifluoride etherate.²⁴¹ An iodohydrin was suggested as an intermediate, the phosphorylated derivative of which, 56b, underwent *anti*-elimination. Perhaps a bromo- or chlorohydrin intermediate could be obtained analogously that would produce olefins of opposite geometry on further treatment with excess iodide. This particular reduction succeeds for trisubstituted olefins²⁴¹ whereas epoxides of trisubstituted alkenes did not react cleanly with trifluoroacetyl iodide.

White and $\text{Kim}^{3/2}$ reported a route for olefin inversion exemplified by stilbenes (Scheme 38). The epoxides reacted with hydrazine (one inversion); the resulting β -hydroxyalkylhydrazines were cyclized to 3-amino-1,3-oxazolidin-2-ones, 57, with diethyl carbonate. Oxidation to a sulfoximine, 58, was accomplished with lead tetraacetate in methylene chloride and dimethyl sulfoxide. The crystalline sulfoximines decomposed smoothly at 110-130° in dimethyl sulfoxide (via diazenes) producing the stilbenes by a stereospecific syn-elimination in high yield. That this intriguing chelotropic reaction could generate highly strained double bonds was demonstrated by the synthesis of bicyclo{3.3.1}non-1-ene, 59a



(Scheme 38) in 53% yield.²⁴²⁶ The isomeric alkene, 59b, which contains a *trans*-cyclohexene ring, however, was not obtained by analogous treatment of the appropriate N-aminooxazolidinone.

4. FRAGMENTATIONS OF THURANES

(a) Syntheses of thüranes from alkenes summarized

Few descriptions of olefin inversion via thiiranes or related sulfur heterocycles exist. Because many thiirane preparations from olefins are stereospecific, and several stereospecific fragmentation reactions of these rings are known, it seems useful to enumerate these studies and briefly describe the relevant chemistry.

Thiranes can be synthesized from olefins via epoxides through reaction with either thiourea or thiocyanate ion.²⁴³ Both procedures entail two inversions of configuration of carbon, hence the transformation of olefin to thiirane is stereoretentive. Cyclic carbonates of 1,2-diols, e.g. 60, react with thiocyanate to produce thiiranes with two inversions (Scheme 39).²⁴³ However, since 1,2-diols are readily available by either syn- or anti-addition to double bonds (see above), a route from olefin to thiirane by inversion of olefin geometry is feasible, albeit somewhat lengthy.

Reaction of alkenes with sulfur dichloride was employed to make thiiranes more directly.²⁴⁴ The reaction products were mixtures of chloroalkylmono-, di- and trisulfides, 61, treatment of which by sodium sulfide produced thiiranes stereospecifically with retention of geometry. The addition of iodine thiocyanate $(I_2 + {\rm SCN}_2)$ to olefins proceeded anti;²⁴⁵ the products reacted with base to produce thiiranes in 26-57% yield and the overall effect was again that of syn-addition of sulfur across the double bond (Scheme 39). This particular synthesis, Hinshaw noted, was not extended successfully to acyclic alkenes and would fare poorly for olefins containing oxidizable groups in the starting olefin. Thiiranes may also be prepared from epoxides with 3-methylbenzothiazole-2-thione.²⁴⁶

Thiocyanate reached with bromohydrins, which are obtainable by the usual anti-addition process, to displace the halogen and thereby invert that carbon (Scheme 39).¹⁷⁶ Subsequent base treatment expelled cyanate ion; hence, this process produced thiiranes with stereoinversion from the olefin. The geometrical



purities of the diastereometric β -hydroxythiocyanates were 70-88%. Evidently the displacement of bromine from secondary carbon by thiocyanate was not strictly S_N2.

(b) Fragmentations of thüranes

Although epoxides reacted with phosphines only at elevated temperatures, thiiranes were converted to olefins²⁴⁷ smoothly at room temperature with triphenylphosphine and triethyl phosphite. The reaction was, in contrast to that of epoxides and phosphines,²⁰²⁻²⁰⁴ stereospecifically syn.²⁰⁴ Moreover, syn-eliminations could be promoted also by alkyl lithium reagents,^{246,249} by lithium aluminum hydride,²⁴⁹ and by excess methyl iodide.²⁴⁸ The methyl iodide reductions of thiiranes were studied in detail and found to proceed via a β -iododimethylsulfonium iodide.²⁴⁸ The apparent stereospecificity of the alkyllithium reductions was surprising in view of predictions based on orbital symmetry considerations for cheletropic reactions^{56e,250} which suggested that 3-membered ring cleavage would not proceed by a concerted pathway. Hence these reactions might have been expected to proceed by ionic or radical intermediates through which the stereointegrity could be lost.

A pertinent study by Trost and Ziman²⁵¹ established that anions were not involved. *Threo*- and *erythro*-2-bromo-3-ethylthiobutanes, 62, 63, were synthesized (Scheme 40) and each diastereomer was converted by halogen-metal exchange to the anion suspected as an intermediate in the thiirane decomposition. The stereochemical consequences (mixtures of 2-butenes from each anion) left no doubt that bond rotation-anion inversion competed with elimination. Consequently, the thiirane reduction, by which the isomeric 2-butene sulfides were converted to butenes stereospecifically, did not proceed via these anions. The specificity of this reaction need not require that the reaction be concerted and other possible pathways exist.²⁵¹ In addition, the symmetry considerations for three-membered rings were reexamined,⁵⁶⁶ and a concerted pathway was deemed possible which would occur by disrotation. Thus the stereospecific fragmentation of thiiranes (and other 3-membered rings subsequently discussed) can occur either by a "nonlinear" cheletropic reaction or by discrete intermediates which have virtually no detectable opportunity to lose configuration. The nature of such intermediates appears not to have been clearly defined yet for this thiirane decomposition.



Thiiranes decomposed stereospecifically to olefins when exposed to carbenes (Scheme 41).²³² For example, ethyl diazoacetate was decomposed with cupric salts in the presence of several thiiranes. The olefins were believed to arise from the stereospecific decomposition of an intermediate sulfonium ylid, 64. Also, cyclohexane episulfide was transformed to cyclohexene in 67% yield by nickel dicyclo-octadiene complex (Ni{COD}₂).²⁵³ In contrast to the specificity of anion and ylid reductions of thiiranes, elimination induced by radicals²⁵⁴ was less specific. Reduction of *cis*-2-butene sulfide yielded 74% *cis*-2-butene, and the *trans* sulfide gave 82% *trans* olefin. The tendency was for *syn*-reduction indicating that the elimination occurred before complete equilibration of the intermediate carbon radicals. Finally, thiiranes may also be reduced to alkenes with 3-methyl-2-selenoxobenzothiazole.²³⁰ The reaction was completely analogous to epoxide reduction described earlier and gave a *syn*-elimination.

R²

$$\begin{array}{cccc} \begin{array}{c} R^{1} & & \\ R^{2} & \\ R^{2} & \\ R^{3} & \\ H \end{array} \end{array} \xrightarrow{\begin{array}{c} CH_{2} \\ CU(Acac)_{2} \end{array}} \left[\begin{array}{c} (z + \overline{z} - CH \otimes_{2} Rt) \\ (z + \overline{z} - CH \otimes_{2} Rt) \end{array} \xrightarrow{\begin{array}{c} R^{1} \\ R^{3} \end{array}} \xrightarrow{\begin{array}{c} R^{2} \\ H \end{array}} + \left[\left\{ S = CH \otimes_{2} Et \right\} \right] \\ \begin{array}{c} \underline{64} \end{array} \end{array} \right] \\ \begin{array}{c} \underline{64} \end{array} \xrightarrow{\begin{array}{c} CH_{3} \\ \underline{64} \end{array}} \xrightarrow{\begin{array}{c} R^{3} \\ H \end{array}} \xrightarrow{\begin{array}{c} R^{3} \\ R^{3} \end{array} \xrightarrow{\begin{array}{c} R^{3} \\ R^{3} \end{array}} \xrightarrow{\begin{array}{c} R^{3} \\ R^{3} \end{array} \xrightarrow{\begin{array}{c} R^{3} \\ R^{3} \end{array}} \xrightarrow{\begin{array}{c} R^{3} \\ R^{3} \end{array} \xrightarrow{\begin{array}{c} R^{3} \\ R^{3} \end{array} \xrightarrow{\begin{array}{c} R^{3} \\ R^{3} \end{array}} \xrightarrow{\begin{array}{c} R^{3} \\ R^{3} \end{array} \xrightarrow{\begin{array}{c}$$

Episulfoxides (thiirane 1-oxides) are generally obtained from thiiranes by oxidation with sodium *meta*-periodate²⁵⁵ or peracid.²⁵⁶ Dialkyl episulfoxides (Scheme 42) lost sulfur monoxide when heated to 100° in a glc port.²⁵⁵ The reduction lacked stereospecificity and, in fact, these compounds underwent a more elaborate series of rearrangements at an intermediate temperature in methylene chloride.²⁵⁷ The stilbene analogs were pyrolyzed in toluene at several temperatures.²⁵⁸ Although *trans*-2,3-diphenylthi-



irane-1-oxide gave exclusively *trans*-stilbene, the *cis* episulfoxide gave mixtures whose composition was temperature dependent. Experimental evidence, namely trapping with a radical scavenger, argued for diradical species as reaction intermediates.

Episulfones readily expelled sulfur dioxide to form olefins.^{29,260} Although the episulfone of cis-2butene (Scheme 43) decomposed exclusively to cis-2-butene, the trans analog yielded a 78:22



(trans; cis) mixture of butenes.²⁶¹ The diphenyl episulfones eliminated stereospecifically syn,²⁶² but a more intensive study revealed that these reactions were not concerted.²⁶³ The potential for an inversion of geometry exists, since the cis-2,3-dialkyl and diphenyl episulfones isomerized in base faster than they decomposed. Thus the cis-2,3-dimethyl compound produced the same ratio of trans to cis in the 2-butene product upon treatment with potassium t-butoxide as had the trans-episulfone upon thermal decomposition without base (Scheme 43).^{261b} Both diphenyl episulfones gave trans-stilbene with sodium hydroxide,²⁶³ an observation which could prove useful for cis-to-trans inversions.

Cycloadditions of conjugated dienes with sulfur dioxide proceed in disrotatory fashion if thermal and in a conrotatory sense if photochemical.⁵⁶ In addition, the adducts may be capable of chemical manipulation, such as epimerization, so that the overall process from cycloaddition through cycloreversion might, in principle, offer useful techniques for selectively altering the geometrical composition of conjugated dienes. The thermal reaction of 2,4-hexadienes with sulfur dioxide (Scheme 44) was stereospecific only with the E,E-isomer.²⁵⁴ Geometrical isomerism of the E,Z-isomer occurred at the



elevated temperatures required to bring about its reaction. The thermal reversion was disrotatory but the fragmentation had to be performed in the vapor to avoid isomerizing the diene product. Dihydrothiophenium salts, formed from conjugated dienes and sulfur dichloride followed by methylation, fragmented to form mixtures of thioethers and conjugated dienes (Scheme 45).²⁶⁵ The dienes were



formed, however, stereospecifically. Interestingly, the Z,Z-isomer (not observed from the thermal decomposition of either (E)-1,2-dimethyl-3-cyclobutene⁵⁷ or (Z)-2,5-dimethyl-2,5-dihydrothiophene-1,1-dioxide) 65^{264} was the major isomer of the diene product from the salt, 68. The transition state for the disrotatory mode leading to E,E-diene had been adversely affected by steric interaction of the ring methyls with the sulfur alkyl group.

In summary, some opportunity exists for the interconversion of olefin geometrical isomers via thiiranes and episulfones, but the use of sulfur heterocycles for selectively altering the geometry of conjugated dienes seems quite limited.

5. FRAGMENTATION OF AZIRIDINES AND RELATED HETEROCYCLICS

(a) Syntheses of aziridines from alkenes summarized

Developments in aziridine chemistry were reviewed.²⁶⁶ Syntheses of aziridines from olefins which have broad scope include sequences initiated by addition of iodine isocyanate²⁶⁷ and iodine azide.²⁶⁸ These reactions generally proceeded by *anti*-addition, and the aziridine ring is subsequently formed by intramolecular displacement. These syntheses share with other procedures the retention of olefin geometry in the aziridine product. The following constitutes an update on aziridine syntheses from alkenes.

A modification to the iodine azide method allowed preparation of N-substituted aziridines.²⁶⁹ Aryland alkyldichloroboranes reacted with *vic*-iodoazides to produce N-aryl- and N-alkylaminoiodides which in base cyclized to the aziridines. *Vic*-bromoazides, which are conveniently prepared from olefins in aqueous dimethoxyethane from N-bromosuccinimide and sodium azide,²⁷⁰ were reduced with lithium aluminum hydride to give aziridines with overall retention of geometry. Bromoamination was also achieved using N,N-dibromodiethylphosphoramidate followed by HCl treatment of the resulting *trans*adduct,²⁷¹ and *syn*-addition of primary amines to olefins by aminopalladation has been described.²⁷² Aziridines have also been prepared from β -hydroxyamines with triphenylphosphine-carbon tetrachloride and triethylamine.²⁷³ It is not clear what the scope or stereochemistry of this transformation is. Also, epoxides reacted with iminotriphenylphosphoranes to give aziridines, and the scope of this reaction is not known yet either.²⁷⁴

When a vic-iodoisocyanate adduct of an olefin, 69 (Scheme 46) was treated with methanol and the resulting iodocarbamate was heated to 180° ,²⁷⁵ an oxazolidinone, 70, was formed by inversion at the iodine-bearing carbon. The β -hydroxyamine, which was obtained therefrom by basic hydrolysis, was treated sequentially with acid and base to form the aziridine. The latter transformation of an aminoalcohol to an aziridine is the well known Wenker synthesis of aziridines²⁷⁶ and involves another inversion of carbon configuration. The modification of Carlson and Lee²⁷⁵ appears to be the only case of aziridine



synthesis with inversion from alkene. Although the route was lengthy, overall yields were good (*E*-2-octene was stereospecifically obtained in 41% yield from the Z-isomer). Recently, Sharpless *et al.*²⁷⁷ employed an aza analog of osmium tetraoxide to oxidize cyclohexene to a $cis-\beta$ -hydroxyamine (Scheme 47). That the reaction was very stereoselectively *syn* was determined by similarly treating *trans*-1D-1-decene (<5% anti adduct). Application of Wenker's aziridine synthesis from this point forward would provide aziridines of geometry opposite to that of the olefins.



(b) Fragmentations of aziridines

Nitrosation of aziridines with nitrosyl chloride, nitromethane, or 3-nitro-N-nitrosocarbazole produced nitrous oxide and alkenes with 99% cis deamination (Scheme 48).²⁷⁸ Intermediate N-nitrosoaziridines, 71, were inferred spectrally. This deamination has been employed to complete an olefin inversion sequence.²⁷⁵ Aziridines reacted with carbenes stereospecifically via presumed aziridinium ylids, 72, to yield imines and olefins of the same stereochemistry as the aziridine (Scheme 48).²⁷⁹ The reactions of



P. E. SONNET

cis- and trans-2,3-diphenylaziridine with chloroform and t-butoxide produced cis-stilbene (95.5%) and trans-stilbene (>99%) respectively, although in only 30% yield. Diffuoramine reacted with aziridines producing diazenes, 73, as intermediates²⁸⁰ which expelled nitrogen and again produced olefins with high syn specificity. However, Carpino found that the diphenylaziridines did not decompose specifically from the corresponding diazenes.²⁸¹ The syntheses of the required diphenylaziridines was interesting, and one notes that a 1,2-diol was converted via its dimesylate with hydrazine to the N-aminoaziridine which was then oxidized with manganese dioxide to obtain the alkene (Scheme 49). Since diols can be obtained by



anti-addition to alkenes, a potentially viable route for inverting olefin geometry is possible by similar conversion to an aminoaziridine followed by a chelotropic fragmentation. N-aminoaziridines could also be reduced stereospecifically syn via hydrazones, which when heated (100°) expelled diazoketones (Scheme 48).²⁸²

Related nitrogen heterocycles, which fragment to produce olefins are 2,5-dihydropyrroles (by oxidation to diazenes)²⁴³ and 1,2,5,6-tetrahydropyrazines (by mercuric oxide oxidation to the 2,4-dihydro analogs).²⁸⁴ Decompositions were stereospecific and disrotatory, although the utility of such reactions for selective alteration of olefin geometry appears limited (Scheme 50).



Chlorosulfonyl isocyanate added to alkenes stereospecifically syn to produce β -lactams.²⁶⁵ Orbital symmetry-controlled { $\Pi^2 s + \Pi^2 a$ } cycloadditions are energetically so demanding⁵⁶ that this addition was described in terms of dipolar intermediates.²⁸⁵ Fragmentation of these β -lactams was accomplished only at elevated temperatures (600°, 2 seconds contact time).²⁸⁶ The olefins were formed stereospecifically syn and the fragmentation was viewed, in fact, as a rarely observed { $\Pi^2 s + \Pi^2 a$ } cycloreversion. The overall sequence of cycloaddition-cycloreversion reproduces the original olefin geometry and, as matters stand, these transformations have no demonstrated utility for interconverting alkene geometrical isomers.

6. FRAGMENTATIONS OF HETEBOCYCLES BASED ON VIC-DIOLS, DITHIOLS

The reactions described in this section are concerted syn eliminations in which orbital symmetry is conserved by disrotatory cleavage ($\{\Pi^2 s + \Pi^4 s\}$ cycloreversion) from anions or carbenes to form the alkene (Scheme 51). The heterocycles are often obtained from *vic*-diols or dithiols which are readily available as *trans*-adducts of alkenes. Syn fragmentation of the heterocycle to an olefin therefore provides a good route for inverting olefin geometry.



(a) Thiono- and trithiocarbonates

Reaction of *vic*-diols with thiocarbonyldiimidazole,²⁶⁷ or somewhat less satisfactorily sequential reaction of the diol with base, carbon disulfide and methyl iodide, provided the thionocarbonates. Hindered diols such as pinacol did not react with thiocarbonyldiimidazole and the alternative procedure had to be used. High yields of olefin resulted when the thionocarbonates were heated under reflux in trimethyl or triethyl phosphite. Moreover, the elimination was stereospecific and the sequence was successfully applied to the synthesis of *trans*-cyclooctene (Scheme 52). This strained alkene was swept



Scheme 52.

from the reaction mixture (triisooctyl phosphite, 135°) with argon as it formed (75% yield, > 99% trans). Although trans-cycloheptene could not be isolated from an analogous reaction, its formation was verified by isolation of its 2,5-diphenylisobenzofuran adduct.

Because elevated temperatures and lengthy reaction times seemed to be the rule for thionocarbonate decomposition, other reagents were sought that might achieve the same result more effectively. Both iron pentacarbonyl $\{Fe(CO)_3\}^{200}$ and Ni(COD)₂,²⁰⁰ did produce olefins from thionocarbonates. Reaction with Fe(CO)₃ occurred at 100°, but was not specific for thionocarbonates yielding stilbenes. The reaction of Ni(COD)₂ for which a nickel-carbene complex was tentatively proposed, stereospecifically produced the isomeric 4-methyl-2-pentenes from the diastereonneric thionocarbonates.²⁰⁰ Reaction of the thionocarbonate of *trans*-1,2-cyclooctanediol, however, produced only *cis*-cyclooctene and it was surmised that nickel catalyzed isomerization of the *E*-isomer.

P. E. SONNET

Table 5. Selected syn-fragmentation of diol/dithiol derivatives to alkenes*

Reference	Scheme	Starting Material	Product(s)	Yield, % ^b	Stereospec.,%
287a	51B	meso-hydrobenzoin thionocarbonate	(<u>Z</u>)-stilbene	92	c
287a	51B	d.1-hydrobenzoin thionocarbonate	(<u>E</u>)-stilbene	87	c
287a	51B	(Z)-1,2-cyclodecanediol	(Z)-cyclodecene	84	с
287a	51B	(E)-1,2-cyclodecanediol	(E)-cyclodecene	81	c
287a	51B	pinacol	2,3-dimethy1-2-butene	-	-
287b	51B	mego-2,3-diphenylbutane-2,3-diol	(Z)-1,4-dipheny1-2-butene	96	100
2875	51B	d,1-2,3-diphenylbutane-2,3-diol	(E)-1,4-dipheny1-2-butene	99	100
28 7b	51B	cyclohexanolpinacol	dicyclohexylidene	95	-
2875	51B	(E)-1,2-cyclooctanediol thionocarbonate	(E)-cyclooctene	<i>7</i> 5	>99
287b	51B	meso-hycrobenzoin thrithiocarbonate	(Z)-stilbene	94	с
2875	51B	dil-hydrobenzoin trithiocarbonate	(<u>E</u>)-stilbene	100	с
287b	51B	meso-2,3-butanediol trithiocarbonate	(Z)-2-butene	-	с
287b	51B	d.1-2,3-butanediol trithiocarbonate	(<u>E</u>)-2-butane	-	с
307	59	(+)-(E)-1,2-cyclooctanediol thionocarbonate	$(-)-(\underline{E})-cyclooctene$	84	>99 ^d
307	59	(-)-(E)-1,2-cyclooctanediol trithiocarbonate	(+)-(E)-cyclooctene	68	99 ⁶
296	56	(Z)-4,5-diphenyl-1,3-dithiolan-2-thione	(<u>Z</u>)-stilbene	90	90 ^{1°}
296	56	(E)-4,5-diphenyl-1,3-dithiolan-2-thione	(<u>E</u>)-stilbene	62	100
299	51 A	<pre>(E)-1,2-cyclooctanediol banzylidene acetal</pre>	(E)-cyclooctene	<i>7</i> 5	100
299	51A	d,l-hydrobenzoin benzylidene acetal	(E)-stilbene	9 ⁸	100
308	51A	I(R=H) ^h	 II(R=H)	30	100 ^d
308	51 A	I(R=CH ₂) ^g	II(R=CH_2)	60	100 ^d
308	51 A		IV	67	100 ^C

Preparations of olefins which do not exist as geometrical isomers have been included for the sake of greater comprehensiveness.

b Isolated yields.

^C Reaction was reportedly stereospecific.

d Optical purity ~100%.

e Optical purity 96%.

f Isomerization of the product alkene occurred.

- ⁸ Also isolated: desoxybenzoin (66%) and 1-phenylpentan-1-ol (64%). No (<u>Z</u>)-stilbene was obtained from the <u>meso</u>-isomer.
- h Structures for I IV given below.



Decomposition of thionocarbonates in sterically crowded molecular environments sometimes failed. Alkylation of the thione sulfur with methyl- or isopropyl iodide produce a *vic*-iodo thiocarbonate by S_N^2 displacement by the iodide ion. Reduction with either Zn or Mg amalgam, however, was not stereospecific. The systems examined were dire tests of specificity (attempts to prepare *trans*-cyclooctene and the stilbenes) for which the metal reducing agents might be expected to fail.¹⁰⁷

The related trithiocarbonates were also examined.^{277b} Preparation of the trans-1,2-trithiocarbonate of cyclooctane was accomplished by anti-addition of dithiocyanogen to cis-cyclooctene (Scheme 53),



cyclization with HBr, and treatment of the resulting iminodithiocarbonate with hydrogen sulfide. Alternatively, trithiocarbonates can be prepared from epoxides with potassium methyl trithiocarbonate,²⁹¹ a procedure which had been demonstrated to occur with an odd number of Walden inversions.³⁹² Elimination from trithiocarbonates was again stereospecific and the yields (2-butenes, stilbenes) were high, but extended reflux in trimethyl phosphite was required. An interesting variation of this reaction involved the carbonate tosylhydrazone, 74 (Scheme 54).²⁹³ The tosylhydrazone was



prepared from the diol with phosgene immonium chloride followed by tosylhydrazine. The bicyclic olefin, 75, was obtained from the sodium salt of the hydrazone at 300°. Pyrolysis of the thionocarbonate of pinacol gave only tetramethylethylene, whereas both 2,3-dimethylbutadiene and 2,3-dimethylbuten-3-ol in addition to the alkene were produced from the hydrazone decomposition. The suggestion was made, therefore, that the reactions may not be mechanistically equivalent.

That the mechanism of the trithiocarbonate fragmentation involved the initial generation of an ylid (Scheme 55),²⁹⁴ was demonstrated by intercepting that ylid with added aldehyde forming 76. Once such an ylid is formed it may decompose competitively to alkene, react with accessible electrophiles such as aldehydes, or react with trithiocarbonate to form a dimer; e.g. 77. Ylids were also formed when the reaction was extended to the homologous trithiocarbonate of 1,3-propanedithiol. These ylids did not



fragment to cyclopropanes and were found useful for condensations with aldehydes as a chain-extension reaction. The pyrolysis of the thionocarbonate, 78 (Scheme 55)²⁸⁵ produced the insertion product, 80, in addition to the expected olefin, 79, which was advanced as evidence that a carbene intermediate was involved in thionocarbonate fragmentation.

When cis- and trans-4,5-diphenyl-1,3-dithiolan-2-thiones reacted with dimethyl acetylenedicarboxylate, an addition-elimination sequence occurred (Scheme 56).²⁹⁶ Stilbenes were formed rapidly at 120°, conditions which are less vigorous than for trithiocarbonate and thionocarbonate decompositions. The *trans*-isomer was formed stereospecifically, while the *cis*-stilbene isomerized partially as it formed. These observations are provocative; they may point the way to greater utilization of carbonate fragmentation reactions by substantially reducing reaction times and temperatures.



(b) Dioxolanes

The initial observation of the cleavage of a cyclic ether via an α -carbanion to form an olefin appears to have been made by Letzinger and Pollart (Scheme 57).²⁹⁷ Treatment of 2-phenyltetrahydrofuran with alkyllithium gave ethylene and acetophenone. Wharton *et al.* observed the decomposition of the benzaldehyde acetal of ethylene glycol, 81, with phenyllithium in ether at room temperature to ethylene (80-94%).²⁹⁸ Although benzoic acid was not recovered from the reaction mixture, the isolation of both benzophenone and triphenylmethanol was consistant with an initial fragmentation to benzoate ion



Scheme 57.

(Scheme 57). The scope of this reaction was examined subsequently by Hines et al.²⁹⁹ who determined the syn-stereospecificity of the decomposition enabling a facile, ambient temperature preparation of trans-cyclooctene (75% yield, 100% trans).

Orthoformate esters of 1,2-diols (82 and 83) could be cleaved to olefins stereospecifically by heating to > 150° with acetic acid catalyst (Scheme 57).³⁰⁰ This reaction appeared to be particularly useful for the preparation of α,β -unsaturated systems. In contrast, deprotonation of the orthoester, 84 (Scheme 57) with butyllithium gave phenylacetophenone and ethyl formate.³⁰¹ No stilbene was observed.

2-Acetoxy-1,3-dioxolanes, which may be intermediates in the acetic acid-catalyzed decomposition of 2-ethoxy-1,3-dioxolanes, were converted to alkenes (CO₂, acetic acid) when heated neat to 120° .³⁰² The reaction was not clean and produced the mixed (formate-acetate) diester of the *vic*-diol in varying amounts. Reportedly, decomposition of the acetoxydioxolanes produced only olefins in xylene under reflux. Aminodioxolanes have been prepared from *vic*-diols (dimethylformamide dimethyl acetal).³⁰³ These were pyrolyzed in refluxing acetic anhydride to produce dimethyl acetamide, CO₂, acetic acid, and olefin. The reactions were not generally stereospecific, however, and some carbonium ion character was evident. In one case, for example, 1,1-diphenylethylene and *trans*-stilbene accompanied the major product, *cis*-stilbene.

The ethylene ketal of norbornadienone, 85, fragmented to give ethylene (Scheme 58).³⁰⁴ Although this reaction appears to have little utility for olefin synthesis, it was pursued as a possible source of dialkoxycarbenes (dimethyl rather than ethylene ketal).



Syn-fragmentations of thionocarbonates, 1,3-dioxolanes, and related heterocyclics discussed above have considerable utility for olefin synthesis. The following discussion permits an assessment of the degree to which such reactions may be employed as a key step for olefin inversion. Shortly after Cope *et al.* proved that molecular disymmetry would be a property of *trans*-cyclooctene by resolving the *trans*-olefin with platinum complexes of α -methyl benzylamine,³⁰⁵ they established the absolute configurations of both the cyclooctane-1,2-diols and the *trans*-olefin.³⁰⁶ The (+)-*trans*-1,2-diol, **86** (Scheme 59) was obtained then by fractional crystallization of the strychnine salt of the monophthalate



half-ester.³⁰⁷ Fragmentation of the derived thionocarbonate, 87, produced optically pure (-)-transcyclooctene in 84% yield. A route was also established via the trithiocarbonate; resolution was performed on the iminodithiocarbonate intermediate (refer to Scheme 53) with the salt of (-)-1-

phenylethanesulfonic acid. Again, high optical purity was achieved. A series of optically pure 3substituted *trans*-cyclooctenes were prepared and absolute configurations were established.³⁰⁶ In each instance the *trans*-double bond was obtained by treatment of the benzylidene derivative with butyllithium. Although the yields were not high, the stereospecificity of the reaction assured optical purity of product. Optically active *trans*-cyclooctene prepared by these routes has also been used to synthesize *trans*-fused and optically pure cyclopropanes^{307,309} and aziridines³⁰⁹ (Scheme 59). The thionocarbonate decomposition (Corey-Winter reaction) has been applied successfully to sugars³¹⁰ and other highly oxygenated substrates.³¹¹ This reaction served also in the final step of the synthesis of optically active twistene, **88**, and thereby aided in the determination of the absolute configuration of both the alkene and the parent hydrocarbon (Scheme 60).³¹² Fused cyclobutene systems related to propellanes, **89**,³¹³ and the hindered cyclobutene, **90** (Scheme 60)³¹⁴ were obtained either by direct desulfurization of a thionocarbonate or by the modification which produced an iodoester for zinc reduction.²⁹⁰ Attempts to prepare benzyne from catechol via either the thionocarbonate²⁸⁷⁶ or the benzylidene derivative³¹⁵ failed. A trimeric compound was obtained from the carbene of the thionocarbonate, ^{316,317} while the benzylidene derivative produced catechol and 2-phenyl-2-(2-hydroxyphenoxy)pentane.³¹⁵



7. INTERCONVERSION OF OTHER ALKENE GEOMETRICAL ISOMERS

Double bonds which are conjugated with various common carbon functional groups have been, in part, discussed in the earlier sections wherein the methodology employed for inversion served as the basis for discussion. It was noted that conjugation lowered the energy barrier to thermally induced inversion of geometry, and altered the energy difference between isomers so as to favor *trans*.

Substitution of a basic nitrogen on the β -carbon of an α,β -unsaturated system to create a "pushpull" ethylene dramatically lowered the barrier to inversion.³¹⁸ Enaminoaldehydes and enaminoketones, for example, underwent *cis-trans* isomerization in solution. The equilibrium position was dependent upon both the structure of the compound and the solvent. Similarly, the equilibration of geometrical isomers of nitroenamines has been studied by NMR techniques.³¹⁹

Heteroatoms which are not as basic as nitrogen afford more readily isolated geometrical isomers. Thus vinyl boranes may be converted to vinyl halides by either retention or inversion or geometry.³²⁰ In this case, geometrical inversion was accompanied by a switch from one heteroatom (B) to another (Br), and the inversion was from a *trans*-vinyl borane to a *cis*-vinyl halide. A similar sequence involving vinyl silanes has permitted the preparation of vinyl chlorides,³²¹ bromides,^{321,322} iodides,³²³ acetates,³²² ethers,³²² and enamides³²² with either retention or inversion; the replacement consisting of X for Si. These reactions have in common *anti*-addition of XY followed by *anti*-elimination of XSi (or XB).

The currency of these efforts makes a thorough review of the inversion of heteroatom substituted alkenes quite premature. Clearly, however, a new area for research is developing concurrently with the developing interest in vinyl organometallics; namely that of inversion of alkene geometry with concommitant replacement of one heteroatom by another. The utility of such transformations for organic synthesis, and the thermal and photochemical³²⁴ properties of geometrically pure heteroatom substituted alkenes, seem to offer considerable latitude for further research.³²⁵

Acknowledgements-The author is deeply grateful to Dr. James E. Oliver for many helpful suggestions during the preparation of this manuscript. The author also expresses appreciation to his wife, Marilyn Sonnet, for assistance in editing.

REFERENCES

- ¹The Chemistry of Alkenes (Edited by S. Patai). Interscience, New York (1964); The Chemistry of Alkenes (Edited by J. Zabicky), Vol. 2. Interscience, New York (1968).
- ²For a comprehensive review of synthetic methods for insect sex pheromones which emphasizes the concern for olefin geometry see: C. A. Henrick, *Tetrahedron* 33, 1845 (1977).
- ³⁴D. J. Faulkner, Synthesis 175 (1971); ⁶J. Reucroft and P. G. Sammes, Quart. Rev. 25, 135 (1971).

- ⁴For a discussion of cis-trans interconversion of carotenes see; L. F. Fieser and M. Fieser, Topics in Organic Chemistry, pp. 209-224. Reinhold, New York (1963).
- ³For example, W. Huckel and H. Bretschneider, Liebigs Ann. Chem. 540, 157 (1939) reported metal-ammonia reduction of conjugated dienes to mixtures. Additionally, certain cyclic acetylenes reduced to cis, rather than trans, cycloalkenes: M. Svoboda, J. Sicher and J. Zavada, Tetrahedron Letters 15 (1964); M. Svoboda, J. Zavada and J. Sicher, Coll. Czech. Chem. Commun. 30, 413, 421 (1965).
- 1. T. Harrison and S. Harrison, Compendium of Organic Synthetic Methods, Vol. 2, pp. 209-210. Wiley, New York (1974).
- ⁷R. J. Haines and G. J. Leigh, Chem. Soc. Rev. 4, 155 (1975); R. H. Grubbs, Olefin Metathesis. In New Applications of Organometallic Reagents in Organic Synthesis (Edited by D. Seyferth), p. 423. Elsevier, New York (1976).
- *E. L. Eliet, Stereochemistry of Carbon Compounds, p. 434. McGraw-Hill, New York (1962).
- W. Klyne and V. Prelog, Experientia 16, 521 (1960).
- ¹⁰J. E. Blackwood, C. L. Gladys, K. L. Loening, A. E. Petrarca and J. E. Rush, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 90, 509 (1968).
- ¹¹See for examples the pioneering work of: ⁴W. G. Young, Z. Jesaitis and L. Levanas, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 59, 403 (1937); ^bH. J. Lucas, M. J. Schlatter and R. C. Jones, *Ibid.* 63, 22 (1941).
- 12a W. G. Young, D. Pressman and C. D. Coryell, Ibid. 61, 1640 (1939); *S. Winstein, D. Pressman and W. G. Young, Ibid. 61, 1643 (1939).
- ¹³H. B. S. Conacher, J. Chromatogr. Sci. 14, 405 (1976).
- ¹⁴H. K. Mangold, Thin-Layer Chromatography (Edited by E. Stahl), 2nd Edn, p. 396. Springer-Verlag, New York (1969); L. J. Morris, J. Lipid Res. 7, 717 (1966).
- ¹⁵H. Kelker, Adv. in Liquid Crystals, Vol. 3, p. 237. Academic Press, New York (1978).
- ¹⁶M. E. Bednas and D. C. Russell, Can. J. Chem. 36, 1272 (1958).
- ¹⁷H. Jaeger, H. U. Klor, G. Blos and H. Ditschuneit, Chromatographia 8, 9 (1975).
- 18 R. R. Heath, J. H. Tumlinson and R. E. Doolittle, J. Chromatogr. Sci. 15, 10 (1977), and Refs. cited.
- ¹⁹M. G. Karandinos, J. H. Tumlinson and T. D. Eichlin, J. Chem. Ecol. 3, 57 (1977), and earlier papers.
- ²⁰R. Lester, J. Chromatogr. 156, 55 (1978).
- ²¹R. R. Heath, J. R. Jordan, P. E. Sonnet and J. H. Tumlinson, J. High Res. Chrom. and Chrom. Commun. (in press).
- ^{22a} For some recent examples see Ref. 2, pp. 1854, 1855; *Ref. 2, pp. 1855, 1862.
 ²³See for example, J. W. McCutcheon, Org. Synth. Coll., Vol. III, pp. 526, 531. Wiley, New York (1955).
- ²⁴See for example, B. F. Nesbitt, P. S. Beevor, R. A. Cole, R. Lester and R. G. Poppi, Tetrahedron Letters 4669 (1973).
- 25a L. F. Fieser and M. F. Fieser, Reagents for Organic Synthesis, Vol. 1, p. 1133. Wiley, New York (1967); * For recent examples, see D. R. Hall, P. S. Beevor, R. Lester, R. G. Poppi and B. F. Nesbitt, Chem. Ind. 216 (1975); G. Goto, T. Shima, H. Masuya, Y. Masuoka and K. Hiraga, Chem. Letters 103 (1975).
- ²⁶Reference 25*a*, p. 1262; Ref. 4, p. 216 for examples employing thiourea.
- ²⁷N. Y. Chen and S. J. Lucki, U.S. Pat. 3524895 (18 Aug. 1970); P. H. Reichenbacher and A. J. DeRosset, Ger. Offen. 2140706 (1 March. 1973); Can. Pat. 986030 (23 March 1976).
- ²⁸H. Gilman, Organic Chemistry (2nd Edn), Vol. 1, p. 453. Wiley, New York (1943). For a review of the effects of molecular strain on the energy barrier to inversion, see J. F. Liebman and A. Greenberg, Chem. Rev. 76 (1976), pp. 324-326, and I. Agranal and Y. Tapuhi, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 160, 5604 (1978).
- 28 C. Litchfield, R. D. Harlow, A. F. Isbell and R. Reiser, J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. 42, 73 (1965); S. Chang and T. K. Miwa, Ibid. 49, 422 (1972).
- ³⁰P. E. Sonnet, J. Org. Chem. 39, 3793 (1974).
- ^{31a}C. Moussebois and J. Dale, J. Chem. Soc. (C), 260 (1966); see also *U. Schmidt and A. Muller, Angew. Chem. 75, 299 (1963), °F. D. Gunstone and I. A. Ismail, Chem. Phys. Lipids 1, 264 (1967).
- ³²L. Crombie and J. D. Shah, J. Chem. Soc. 4244 (1955); L. Crombie and J. L. Tayler, Ibid. 2760 (1957).
- ³³W. Roelofs, A. Comeau, A. Hill and G. Milicevic, Science 174, 297 (1971).
- ³⁴J. Dale and C. Moussebois, J. Chem. Soc. (C), 264 (1966).
- ³⁵Reference 25*a*, pp. 1154–1155.
- ³⁶For other Refs. to thiol-promoted isomerization see: R. H. Pallen and C. Sivertz, Can. J. Chem. 35, 723 (1957); J. I. Cuneen, G. M. C. Higgins and W. F. Watson, J. Polymer Sci. 40, 1 (1959); C. Walling and W. Helmreich, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 81, 1144 (1959); C. A. Henrick, W. E. Willy, J. W. Baum, T. A. Baer, B. A. Garcia, T. A. Mastre and S. M. Chang, J. Org. Chem. 40, 1 (1975); C. A. Henrick, E. W. Willy, D. R. McKean, E. Baggiolini and J. B. Siddall, Ibid. 40, 8 (1975).
- ³⁷E. J. Corey and E. Hamanaka, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 89, 2758 (1967).
- 38 R. P. Hildebrand and M. D. Sutherland, Aus. J. Chem. 14, 272 (1961).
- ³⁹K. H. Schulte-Elte and G. Ohloff, Helv. Chim. Acta 51, 548 (1968).
- G. L. Bundy, E. G. Daniels, F. H. Lincoln and J. E. Pike, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 94, 2124 (1972).
- 41a H.-P. Hemmerich, S. Warwel and F. Asinger, Chem. Ber. 106, 505 (1973); *S. Warwel and H.-P. Hemmerich, Liebigs Ann. Chem. 763, 83 (1972).
- 42A. T. Blomquist, L. H. Liu and J. C. Bohrer, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 74, 3643 (1952).
- 43 J. S. Mills, J. Chem. Soc. (C), 2514 (1967).
- ⁴⁴B. Hudson, D. E. Webster and P. B. Wells, *Ibid.*, Dalton Trans. 1204 (1972).
- ⁴⁵J. W. Faller and K. J. Laffey, Organometal. Chem. Synth. 1, 471 (1972).
- 4K. Otsuka and A. Morikawa, J. Catal. 46, 71 (1977); K. Otsuka, T. Tanabe and A. Morikawa, Ibid. 48, 333 (1977).
- ⁴⁷J. Saltiel, J. D'Agostino, E. D. Megarity, L. Metts, K. R. Neuberger, M. Wrighton and O. C. Zafiriou, Organic Photochemistry (Edited by O. L. Chapman), Vol. 3, p. 1. Marcel Dekker, New York (1973).
- ⁴⁶D. O. Cowan and R. L. Drisko, *Elements of Photochemistry*, p. 367. Plenum Press, New York (1976). See also P. J. Kropp, Molecular Photochemistry 9, 39 (1978).
- G. S. Hammond, J. Saltiel, A. A. Lamola, N. J. Turro, J. S. Bradshaw, D. O. Cowan, R. C. Counsell, V. Vogt and C. Dalton, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 86, 3197 (1964).
- ³⁰M. A. Golub and C. L. Stephens, J. Phys. Chem. 70, 3576 (1966); M. A. Golub, C. L. Stephens and J. L. Brash, J. Chem. Phys. 45, 1503 (1966); J. Saltiel, K. R. Neuberger and M. Wrighton, J. Am. Cham. Soc. 91, 3658 (1969); R. F. Borkman and D. R. Kearns, J. Chem. Phys. 44, 945 (1966); J. Am. Chem. Soc. 91, 3658 (1969); N. C. Yang, J. I. Cohen and A. Shani, Ibid. 90, 3264 (1968); R. A. Caldwell and S. P. Jones, Ibid. 91, 5184 (1969).
- ⁵¹V. Ramamurthy, Y. Butt, C. Yang, P. Yang and R. S. H. Lium, J. Org. Chem. 38, 1247 (1973). Also, for selective inversions of E.E-germacra-1(10),4,7(11)-trien-8-one see P. J. M. Reijnders and H. M. Buck, Recl. Trav. Chim. Pays-Bas 97, 263 (1978).
- ³²J. J. Dannenburg and J. H. Richards, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 87, 1626 (1965).

- 53 J. A. Deyrup and M. Betkowski, J. Org. Chem. 37, 3561 (1972).
- ⁵⁴For other metal-catalyzed thermal and photochemical reactions of olefins see: G. M. Whitesides, G. L. Coe and A. C. Cope, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 91, 2608 (1969) and Refs. cited.
- ³⁵A. A. Berlin, G. A. Vinogradov and O. O. Ovchinnikov, Izv. Akad. Nauk SSSR, Ser. Khim. (IASKA6) 2197 (1976). Cham. Abstr. 86, 54847 (1977). See also; J. Bendig, M. Beyermann, D. Kreysig, R. Schoeneich and M. Siegmund, J. Prakt. Chem. 330, 796 (1978).
- ⁵⁴ R. B. Woodward and R. Hoffmann, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 57, 395, 2046 (1965); ^bR. B. Woodward and R. Hoffmann, Angew. Chem. 81, 797 (1969); The Conservation of Orbital Symmetry, p. 152. Verlag Chemie Gmbh, Academic Press (1971).
- ⁵⁷R. A. E. Winter, Tetrahedron Letters 1207 (1965) and Refs. therein.
- ⁵⁸For other examples of olefin interconversion which reflect the principles of orbital symmetry see: M. Mousseron-Canel and J.-C. Mani, *Photochemistry and Molecular Reactions*. Kater Press, Jerusalem (1972); R. Grigg, Ann. Reports Progr. Chem. 68, Section B, 143 (1972); and Ref. 56a, p. 48.
- ³⁰ H. O. House, Modern Synthetic Reactions (2nd Edn 1972), p. 422. Benjamin, New York; *Ref. 8, p. 355.
- ⁴⁰J. March, Advanced Organic Chemistry: Reactions, Mechanisms and Structure, p. 562. McGraw-Hill, New York (1968).
- ⁴¹M. L. Poutsma, Science 157, 997 (1967).
- ⁴²E. S. Gould, Mechanism and Structure in Organic Chemistry, p. 514. Holt, New York (1959).
- ⁴³H. J. Hageman and E. Havinga, Recl. Trav. Chim. Pays-Bas 85, 1141 (1966).
- 44D. R. Dalton, V. P. Dutt and D. C. Jones, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 90, 5498 (1968).
- 45 J. W. Cornforth and D. T. Green, J. Chem. Soc. (C), 846 (1970).
- "R. C. Cambie, W. I. Noall, G. J. Potter, P. S. Rutledge and P. D. Woodgate, Ibid., Perkin 1, 226 (1977).
- ⁴⁷M. Adinolti, M. Parrilli, G. Barone, G. Leonigro, L. Mangoni, *Tetrahedron Letters* 3661 (1976); see also D. Jasserand, J. P. Girard and R. Granger, *Ibid*, 1581 (1976).
- ⁴⁹T. C. Jain, A. F. Russell and J. G. Moffatt, J. Org. Chem. 38, 3179 (1973); S. Greenberg and J. G. Moffatt, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 95, 4016, 4025 (1973).
- ⁴⁰C. V. Wilson, Organic Reactions 9, 332 (1957); F. D. Gunstone, Advances in Organic Chemistry: Methods and Results (Edited by R. A. Raphael and H. Wynberg), Vol. 1, p. 103. Interscience, New York (1960).
- ⁷⁸R. C. Cambie, R. C. Hayward, J. L. Roberts and P. S. Rutledge, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin I 1120, 1858 (1974).
- ⁷¹ Reference 25a, p. 457; ^bp. 820; ^cp. 822.
- ⁷²Reference 59, p. 301.
- ⁷³J. M. Bachhawat and N. K. Mathur, Tetrahedron Letters 691 (1971).
- ^{74a}W. H. Puterbaugh and M. S. Newman, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 81, 1611 (1959); ⁸Ref. 59, p. 426 for further citations on this subject.
- ⁷⁵M. J. Dewar and R. C. Fahey, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 85, 2245, 2248 (1963).
- ⁷⁶S. J. Cristol, F. R. Stermitz and P. S. Ramey, Ibid. 78, 4939 (1956).
- ⁷⁷M. J. Dewar, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 3, 245 (1964).
- *Reference 59, p. 427.
- "Reference 60, p. 564.
- and R. B. Woodward and F. V. Brutcher, Jr., J. Am. Chem. Soc. 30, 209 (1958); *Ref. 59, p. 439 for a review and Refs.
- ⁸¹J. W. Cornforth and D. T. Green, J. Chem. Soc. (C), 846 (1970).
- ⁴²L. Mangoni, M. Adinolfi, G. Barone and M. Parrilli, Tetrahedron Letters 4485 (1973); Gazz. chim. Ital. 105, 377 (1975).
- ⁴³R. C. Cambie, B. G. Lindsay, P. S. Rutledge and P. D. Woodgate, Chem. Commun. 919 (1978).
- ⁵⁴J. Buddrus, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 12, 163 (1973).
- ²⁵M. Schmeisser, K. Dahmen and P. Sartori, Chem. Ber. 100, 1633 (1967).
- *E. Glotter and A. Schwartz, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin I, 1660 (1976).
- ⁸⁷Reference 59, p. 275.
- V. Van Rheenan, R. C. Kelly and D. Y. Cha, Tetrahedron Letters 1973 (1976).
- ⁴⁹W. D. Lloyd, B. J. Navarette and M. F. Shaw, Synth. 610 (1972).
- W. P. Weber and J. P. Shepard, Tetrahedron Letters 4907 (1972).
- ⁹¹J. L. Charton, C. C. Liao and P. DeMayo, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 93, 2463 (1971).
- ⁹²S. Vemura, O. Sasaki and M. Okano, Chem. Commun. 1064 (1971).
- ⁹³A. N. Thakore, P. Pope and A. C. Ochlschlager, Tetrahedron 27, 2617 (1971).
- ⁹⁴N. S. Isaacs and D. Kirkpatrick, Tetrahedron Letters 3869 (1972).
- ³⁵J. E. Oliver and P. E. Sonnet, Org. Synth. 58, 64 (1978).
- ³⁶J. P. Schaefer and D. S. Weinberg, J. Org. Chem. 30, 2635 (1965).
- ⁹⁷P. E. Sonnet and J. E. Oliver, *Ibid.* 41, 3279 (1976).
- ⁵⁶S. Masson and A. Thullier, C. R. Acad. Sci. Ser. C 273, 251 (1971).
- ⁹⁹D. M. Singleton and J. K. Kochi, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 89, 6547 (1967).
- 100K. B. Sharpless and A. Y. Teranishi, J. Org. Chem. 36, 185 (1973).
- ¹⁰¹K. B. Sharpless, A. Y. Teranishi and J. E. Backvall, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 99, 3120 (1977).
- ¹⁰²J. E. Backvall, M. W. Young and K. B. Sharpless, Tetrahedron Letters 3523 (1977).
- ¹⁰⁵The authors cite literature precedence for the frontside migrations: D. R. Coulson, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 91, 200 (1969); R. W. Johnson and R. G. Pearson, Chem. Commun. 966 (1970); R. G. Pearson and W. R. Muir, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 92, 5519 (1970); and also draw on the Stevens rearrangement for an analogy for the epoxide forming step, A. R. Lepley and A. G. Guimanini, Mechanisms of Molecular Migrations (Edited by B. S. Thyagarajin), Vol. 3, p. 297 Wiley Interscience, New York (1971).
- Meta Reference 6, p. 212; *I. T. Harrison and S. Harrison, Compendium of Organic Synthetic Methods, Vol. I, p. 511. Wiley, New York (1971) for a list of common reducing agents.
- ¹⁸⁵For a review of sodium iodide reductions see: J. Hine, Physical Organic Chemistry, p. 209. McGraw-Hill, New York (1962).
- ¹⁴⁶E. R. Trumbull and K. M. Ibne-Rasa, J. Org. Chem. 28, 1907 (1963).
- ¹⁰⁷I. M. Mathai, K. Schug and S. I. Miller, *Ibid.* 35, 1733 (1970).
- 108-C. S. Tsai Lee, I. M. Mathai and S. I. Miller, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 92, 4602 (1970); ¹I. M. Mathai and S. I. Miller, J. Org. Chem. 35, 3416 (1970); ²W. K. Kwok, I. M. Mathai and S. I. Miller, *Ibid.* 35, 3420 (1970).
- ¹⁰⁰Reference 105, p. 185; Ref. 60, p. 728.
- ¹¹⁰D. Landini, S. Quici and F. Rolla, Synthesis 397 (1975).
- ¹¹¹A. DeBoer, C. J. Thanel and G. A. Wilson, Tetrahedron Letters 5137 (1972).
- ¹¹²S. Bodforss, Ber. Disch-Chem. Ges. 49, 2801 (1916); O. Ceder, Acta Chem. Scand. 18, 126 (1964); J.-P. Beque, M. Charpentier-Morize and M. Mayer, Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 2300 (1970); for examples and Refs.

- ¹¹³J. W. Cornforth, R. H. Cornforth and K. K. Mathew, J. Chem. Soc. 112 (1959).
- 14J. Cleofax, J. Hildesheim and S. D. Gero, Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 4111 (1967).
- ¹¹³N. Kornblum, S. D. Boyd, H. W. Pinnick and R. G. Smith, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 93, 4316 (1971).
- ¹¹⁴M. Prince, B. W. Brenner and W. Brenner, J. Org. Chem. 31, 4292 (1966).
- ¹¹⁷T. Kempe, T. Norin and R. Caputo, Acta Chem. Scand. B 30, 366 (1966).
- ¹¹⁸K. M. Ibno-Rasa, A. R. Tahir and A. Rahman, Chem. & Ind. 232 (1973).
- ¹¹⁹K. M. Ibne-Rasa, N. Muhammad and Hasibullah, Ibid. 1418 (1966).
- ¹²⁰F. Weygand and H. G. Peine, Rev. Chim. Acad. Rep. Populaire Roumaine 7, 1379 (1962); Chem. Abstr. 61, 4208 (1964).
- ¹²¹T. van Es, Carbohyd. Res. 5, 282 (1967).
- ¹²J. F. King and R. G. Pews, Can. J. Chem. 42, 1294 (1964). These authors also provide a good literature compilation of reagents for reductive elimination.
- 121 P. Caubere and J. Moreau, Tetrahedron 26, 2637 (1970). See also: J. J. Brunet, L. Mordenti and P. Caubere, J. Org. Chem. 43, 4804 (1978) and J. J. Brunet, R. Vanderesse and P. Caubere, J. Organometal. Chem. 157, 125 (1978).
- ¹²⁴R. J. Strunk, P. M. DiGiacomo, K. Aso and H. G. Kuivila, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 92, 2849 (1970).
- ¹²⁵G. H. Posner and J. S. Ting, Synth. Commun. 3, 281 (1973).
- ¹²⁴J. Casanova and H. R. Rogers, J. Org. Chem. 39, 2408 (1974).
- ¹²⁷K. Issleib and G. Doll, Chem. Ber. 94, 2664 (1961).
- ¹²⁸H. J. S. Winkler and H. Winkler, Liebigs Ann. Chem. 705, 76 (1967).
- ¹²⁹J. P. Schroeder, L. B. Tew and V. M. Peters, J. Org. Chem. 35, 3181 (1970).
- ¹³⁰R. G. Harvey and E. R. deSombre, Topics in Phosphorus Chemistry (Edited by M. Grayson and E. J. Griffith), Vol. I, p. 57. Interscience, New York (1964).
- ¹³¹E. J. Corey and P. A. Grieco, Tetrahedron Letters 107 (1972).
- 132A. Guzman, P. O. deMontellano and P. Crabbe, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin 1 91 (1973).
- 133 M. Adinolfi, M. Parrilli, G. Barone, G. Leonigro and L. Mangoni, Gazz. Chim. Ital. 105, 1259 (1975); Chem. Abstr. 85, 5953 (1976).
- ¹³⁴T.-L. Ho and C. M. Wong, Synth. Commun. 5, 89 (1975).
- ¹³⁵Reference 26, p. 1276.
- ¹³⁶W. G. Young, S. J. Cristol and T. Skei, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 65, 2099 (1943); see also H. House and R. Ro, Ibid. 80, 182 (1958) and C. Stevens and J. Valicenti, Ibid. 87, 838 (1965).
- 137W. Schubert, B. Rabinovitch, N. Carson and V. Sims, Ibid. 74, 4590 (1972).
- ¹³⁰W. G. Young and S. Winstein, Ibid. 58, 102 (1936).
- ¹³⁹K. B. Sharpless, Chem. Commun. 1450 (1970).
- ¹⁴⁰D. R. James, R. W. Rees and C. W. Shoppee, J. Chem. Soc. 1370 (1955).
- 141G. Goto, Bull. Chem. Soc. Japan 50, 186 (1977).
- ¹⁴²P. E. Sonnet, J. Org. Chem. (in press).
- 10seF. Bertini, P. Grasselli, G. Zubiani and G. Cainelli, Chem. Commun. 144 (1970); N. Kornblum and L. Cheng, J. Org. Chem. 42, 2944 (1977); 'E. L. Allred, B. R. Beck and K. J. Voorhees, J. Org. Chem. 39, 1426 (1974).
- 144P. Dowd and L. K. Marwaha, Ibid. 41, 4035 (1976).
- 145 J. R. Hanson, Synth. 1 (1974) for a review of the applications of chromium (II) salts in preparative organic chemistry.
- ¹⁴⁶D. M. Singleton and J. K. Kochi, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 89, 6547 (1967); ¹D. M. Singleton and J. K. Kochi, Ibid. 90, 1582 (1968); ^cT. C.
- Jain, I. D. Jenkins, A. F. Russell, J. P. H. Verbeyden and J. G. Moffatt, J. Org. Chem. 39, 30 (1974).
- 147 J. E. McMurry and T. Hoz, Ibid. 40, 3797 (1975).
- 148 A. Merijanian and T. Mayer, Ibid. 37, 3945 (1972).
- ¹⁴⁹H. Nozaki, T. Shirafuji and Y. Yamamoto, Tetrahedron 25, 3461 (1969).
- ¹⁹⁰S. Bank and M. Platz, Tetrahedron Letters 2097 (1973).
- ¹³¹J. C. Carnaban, Jr. and W. D. Closson, *Ibid.* 3447 (1972).
- ¹⁵²H. Paulsen and D. Stoye, Chem. Ber. 102, 820 (1969).
- ¹⁵³R. D. Guthrie and D. Murphy, Carbohyd. Res. 4, 465 (1967).
- ¹³⁴S. Winstein, D. Pressman and W. G. Young, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 61, 1645 (1939).
- 153 W. M. Schubert, H. Steady and B. S. Rabinovitch, Ibid. 77, 5755 (1955); see also J. Hine and W. H. Brader, Jr., Ibid. 77, 361 (1955). ¹⁵⁶K. Fukui and H. Fujimoto, Tetrahedron Letters 4303 (1965).
- 157C. H. DePuy, R. D. Thurn and G. F. Morris, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 84, 1314 (1962); C. H. DePuy, G. F. Morris, J. S. Smith and R. J.
- Smat, Ibid. 87, 2421 (1965); see also E. Baciocchi and C. Lillocci, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin II 38 (1973).
- ¹⁵⁶For a discussion, see Ref. 60, p. 731; also D. L. J. Clive, Ibid., Chem. Commun. 100 (1974).
- ¹⁹⁹P. E. Sonnet and J. E. Oliver, J. Org. Chem. 41, 3284 (1976).
- 140P. E. Sonnet, J. Org. Chem. (in press).
- 161 Reference 25a, p. 1089.
- 142H. P. Figeys and M. Gelbke, Tetrahedron Letters 5139 (1970).
- ¹⁴³M. F. Semmelhack, J. S. Foos and S. Katz, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 94, 8637 (1972).
- 144 See, for example, J. K. N. Jones and J. L. Thompson, Can. J. Chem. 35, 955 (1957) and Refs. therein.
- ¹⁶³C. D. Kennedy and R. D. Peacock, J. Chem. Soc. 3392 (1963).
- 146K. B. Sharpless and T. C. Flood, J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 370 (1972).
- 147 J. A. Marshall and M. E. Lewellyn, Synth. Commun. 5, 293 (1975); J. Org. Chem. 42, 1311 (1977). For syn reductions of cyanohydrin derivatives see J. A. Marshall and L. J. Karns, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 100, 3615 (1978); Synth. Commun. 8, 65 (1978).
- ¹⁴⁹R. D. Rieke and P. M. Hudnall, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 94, 7178 (1972).
 ¹⁴⁹S. W. Bennett, C. Eaborn, R. A. Jackson and R. W. Walsingham, J. Organometal, Chem. 27, 195 (1971).
- ¹⁷⁹N. S. Vyazankin, V. T. Bychkov, O. V. Linzina and G. A. Razuvaev, J. Gan. Chem., USSR 39, 950 (1969) and Refs. cited.
- ¹⁷¹S. Winstein and H. J. Lucas, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 61, 1576, 1581, 2845 (1939).
- 172D. G. Bounds, R. P. Linstead and B. C. L. Weedon, J. Chem. Soc. 4219 (1954) and Refs. cited.
- ¹⁷⁹M. C. Hoff, K. W. Greenlee and C. E. Board, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 73, 3329 (1951).
- 174S. Cristol, Ibid. 69, 339 (1947).
- ¹⁷⁵D. L. J. Clive, Tetrahedron 34, 1049 (1978).
- ¹³⁶D. VanEnde and A. Krief, Tetrahedron Letters 2709 (1975).
- ¹⁷⁷Reference 104^b, p. 325; Ref. 6, p. 133.
- 1784 M. N. Shang and J. G. Zajacek, J. Org. Chem. 35, 1839 (1970); *R. Broslow and L. M. Maresca, Tetrahedron Letters 623 (1977).

- ¹⁷⁹K. R. Darnall and J. N. Pitts, Chem. Commun. 1305 (1970).
- ¹⁸⁰R. G. Carlson and R. Ardon, J. Org. Chem. 36, 216 (1971).
- ¹⁸¹J. Klinot, K. Waisser, L. Streinz and A. Vystreil, Ibid. 35, 3610 (1970).
- 1824 N. Matsumura, N. Sonoda and S. Tsutsumi, Tetrahedron Letters 2029 (1970); *T. Yamamoto and M. Kimura, Chem. Commun. 948 (1977).
- 183J. Rebek, S. F. Wolf and A. B. Mossman, J. Chem. Soc., Chem. Commun. 711 (1974).
- 1846 M. Parilli, G. Barone, M. Adinolfi and L. Mangoni, Tetrahedron Letters 207 (1976); *P. A. Bartlett and K. K. Jernstedt, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 99, 4829 (1977).
- 1854 C. R. Harrison and P. Hodge, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin I 605 (1976); Ibid., Chem. Commun. 1009 (1974). W. K. Anderson and T. Veysogiua, J. Org. Chem. 38, 2267 (1973).
- 1846 H. Kropf and M. R. Yazdanbakhch, Synth. 711 (1977); P. A. Grieco, J. Org. Chem. 42, 2034 (1977).
- 187D. M. Jerina, J. W. Daly, B. Wilkop, P. Zaltzman-Nirenberg and S. Udenfriend, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 90, 6525 (1968); Biochem. 9, 147
- (1970); J. Selkirk, E. Huberman and C. Heidelberger, Biochem. Biophys. Res. Commun. 43, 1010 (1971).
- 188 S. H. Goh and R. G. Harvey, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 95, 242 (1973); H. Neuman, Chimia 23, 267 (1969).
- 100D. Dansette and D. M. Jerina, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 96, 1224 (1974).
- ¹⁹⁰New Applications of Organometallic Reagents in Organic Synthesis (Edited by D. Seyferth). Elsevier, New York (1976).
- 191 D. J. Peterson, Organometal. Chem. Rev., Sect. A 7, 295 (1972); D. J. Peterson and J. F. Ward, J. Organometal. Chem. 66, 209 (1974); D. Seebach and N. Meyer, Angew. Chem. Inc. Ed. Engl. 15, 438 (1976); P. Beak and B. G. McKinnie, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 99, 5213 (1977); and W. C. Still, Ibid. 100, 1481 (1978).
- 192D. J. Peterson, J. Org. Chem. 33, 780 (1968); T. H. Chan and E. Chang, Ibid. 39, 3264 (1974); F. A. Carey and S. S. Court, Ibid. 37,
- 939 (1972).
- 193 P. F. Hudrlik and D. Peterson, Tetrahedron Letters 1133 (1974); J. Am. Chem. Soc. 97, 1464 (1975).
- ¹⁹⁴Reference 190: P. F. Hudrlik, Organosilicon Compounds in Organic Synthesis, p. 127.
- ¹⁹⁵P. F. Hudrlik, D. J. Peterson and R. J. Rona, J. Org. Chem. 40, 2263 (1975).
- 196 H. Gilman, D. Aoki and D. Wittenberg, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 81, 1107 (1959); G. J. D. Peddle, J. Organometal. Chem. 14, 115 (1968).
- ¹⁹⁷M. T. Reetz and M. Plachky, Synth. 199 (1976).
- ¹⁹⁰P. B. Dervan and M. A. Shippey, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 98, 1265 (1976).
- 1990 D. D. Davis and C. E. Gray, J. Organometal. Chem. 18, P1 (1969); D. D. Davis and C. E. Gray, J. Org. Chem. 35, 1303 (1970).
- 200 Reference 190: M. Pereyre and J.-C. Pommier, The Applications of Organotin Reagents in Organic Synthesis, p. 161. Elsevier, New York (1976).
- ²⁰¹M. Schlosser, Topics Stereochem. 5, 1 (1970).
- 382G. Wittig and W. Haag, Chem. Ber. 88, 1654 (1955).
- 2014 M. J. Boskin and D. B. Denny, Chem. & Ind. 330 (1959). See also: *P. T. Keough and M. Grayson, J. Org. Chem. 27, 1817 (1962);
- A. J. Speziale and D. E. Bissing, J. Am. Chem. Soc, 85, 1888, 3878 (1963); D. E. Bissing and A. J. Speziale, Ibid. 87, 2683 (1965). ²⁰⁴C. B. Scott, J. Org. Chem. 22, 1118 (1957).
- 205 J. F. McGhie, A. W. Ross, H. D. Laney and J. M. Barker, J. Chem. Soc. (C) 1 (1968).
- 206 H. Suzuki, T. Fuchita, A. Isawa and T. Mishina, Synth. 905 (1976); see also N. G. Feschenko and A. V. Kirsanov, Zh. Obshch. Khim. 30, 3041 (1960); J. Gen. Chem., USSR 30, 3016 (1960).
- 287. M. E. Jones and S. Trippett, J. Chem. Soc. (C) 1090 (1966); *see also: G. Wittig and V. Schollkopf, Chem. Ber. 87, 1318 (1954).
- 204. E. Vejejs and P. L. Fuchs, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 93, 4070 (1971); *E. Vedejs and P. L. Fuchs, Ibid. 95, 822 (1973); *E. Vedejs, K. A. Snoble and P. L. Fuchs, J. Org. Chem. 36, 1178 (1973).
- ²⁰⁹P. E. Sonnet, J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. 53, 36 (1976).
- ²¹⁰A. J. Bridges and G. H. Whitham, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 142 (1974).
- ²¹¹E. J. Corey and D. E. Cane, J. Org. Chem. 34, 3053 (1969).
- ²¹²E. J. Corey and G. T. Kwaitkowsky, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 88, 5652, 5653 (1966); Ibid. 99, 6816 (1968); see also E. J. Corey, Pure Appl. Chem. 14, 19 (1967).
- ²¹³E. J. Corey and T. Durst, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 90, 5548 5563 (1968).
- ²¹⁴F. Jung, N. K. Sharma and T. Durst, *Ibid.* 95, 3420 (1973).
- 215ª Y. Watanabe, M. Shiono and T. Mukaiyama, Chem. Letters 8, 871 (1975); *I. Kuwajima, S. Sato and Y. Kurata, Tetrahedron Letters 737 (1972); 'T. Mukaiyama and M. Imaoka, Chem. Letters 413 (1978).
- ²¹⁶C. R. Johnson, J. R. Shanklin and R. A. Kirchoff, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 95, 6562 (1963).
- ²¹⁷B. Lythgoe and I. Waterhouse, Tetrahedron Letters 4223 (1977).
- ²¹⁸A. M. Leonard-Coppens and A. Krief, Ibid. 3227 (1976).
- ²¹⁹K. B. Sharpless and R. F. Lauer, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 95, 2697 (1973).
 ²²⁰K. B. Sharpless and R. F. Lauer, *Ibid.* 95, 6137 (1973).
- ²²¹L. A. Khazemova and V. M. Al'bitskaya, J. Org. Chem., USSR 5, 1973 (1973); Ibid. 6, 941 (1974).
- ²²²H. J. Reich and F. Chow, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 790 (1975).
- 23 B. M. Trost, K. Hiroi and S. Kurosumi, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 97, 438 (1975).
- 224s J. Remion, W. Dumont and A. Krief, Tetrahedron Letters 1385 (1976); J. Remion and A. Krief, Ibid. 3743 (1976).
- ²²⁵D. L. Clive and C. V. Denyer, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 253 (1973).
- 236T. H. Chan and J. R. Finkenbine, Tetrahedron Letters 2091 (1974).
- 27 C. C. J. Culvenor, W. Davies and N. S. Heath, J. Chem. Soc. 278 (1949); C. C. J. Culvenor, W. Davies and K. H. Pausacker, Ibid. 1050 (1946).
- ²²⁸J. M. Behan, R. W. W. Johnstone and M. J. Wright, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin I 1216 (1975).
- ²²⁹T. van Es, Carbohyd. Res. 5, 282 (1967).
- 230V. Calo, L. Lopez, A. Mincuzzi and G. Pesce, Synthesis 200 (1976).
- ²³¹D. L. J. Clive and S. M. Menchen, Chem. Commun. 658 (1977).
- 232a W. P. Giering, M. Rosenblum and J. Tancrede, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 94, 7170 (1972); M. Rosenblum, M. R. Saidi and M. Madhavarao, Tetrahedron Letters 4009 (1975).
- 223H. Alper and D. DesRoches, Ibid. 4155 (1977).
- ²³⁴K. B. Sharpless, M. A. Umbreit, M. T. Nieh and T. C. Flood, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 94, 6538 (1972).
- ²³⁵P. Dowd and K. Kang, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 384 (1974).
- ²³⁶T. Fujisawa, K. Sugimoto and H. Ohta, Chem. Letters 883 (1974).
- ²³⁷J. K. Kochi, D. M. Singleton and L. J. Andrews, Tetrahedron 24, 3503 (1968).

- ²³⁸S. M. Kupchan and M. Maruyama, J. Org. Chem. 36, 1187 (1971).
- ^{23%} J. E. McMurry and M. P. Fleming, *Ibid.* 40, 2555 (1975); ^bJ. E. McMurry, M. G. Sylvestri, M. P. Fleming, T. Hoz and M. W. Grayston, *Ibid.* 43, 3249 (1978).
- 240 P. E. Sonnet, Ibid. 43, 1841 (1978).
- 241K. Yamada, S. Goto, H. Nagase, Y. Kyotami and Y. Hirata, Ibid. 43, 2076 (1978).
- ^{242a} J. D. White and M. Kim, *Tetrahedron Letters* 3361 (1974); ^bM. Kim and J. D. White, J. Am. Cham. Soc. 99, 1172 (1977). The latter Ref. includes a useful discussion of energy and hybridization considerations for highly strained double bonds.
- ^{20s} D. D. Reynolds and D. L. Fields, in *Heterocyclic Compounds with 3- and 4-membered Rings* (Edited by A. Weissberger), p. 576. Interscience, New York (1964); M. Sander, *Chem. Rev.* 66, 297 (1966); ^bFor an interesting application of the epoxide-to-thiirane conversion using thiourea which confirmed the double inversion engendered, see: L. D. Hall, L. Hough and R. A. Pritchard, *J. Chem. Soc.* 1537 (1961).
- ²⁴⁴F. Lautenschlager and N. V. Schwartz, J. Org. Chem. 34, 3991 (1969).
- 245 J. C. Hinshaw, Tetrahedron Letters 3567 (1972).
- 244V. Calo, L. Lopez, L. Marchese and G. Pesce, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 621 (1975).
- 247 R. E. Davies, J. Org. Chem. 23, 1767 (1958).
- ²⁴⁶ R. D. Schuetz and R. L. Jacobs, *Ibid.* 26, 3467 (1961); ^bC. C. J. Culvenor, W. Davies and N. S. Heath, J. Chem. Soc. 282 (1949); ^cG. K. Helmkamp and D. J. Pettitt, J. Org. Chem. 29, 3258 (1964).
- ²⁰⁸ N. P. Neureiter and F. G. Bordwell, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 81, 578 (1959); ^bD. A. Lightner and C. Djerassi, Chem. & Ind. 1236 (1962).
 ²³⁰ L. A. Paquette, Accts. Chem. Res. 1, 209 (1968).
- ²⁵¹B. M. Trost and S. Ziman, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 181 (1969).
- ²⁵²Y. Hata, M. Watanabe, S. Inoue and S. Oae, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 97, 2553 (1975).
- ²⁵³M. F. Semmelhack and R. D. Stauffer, Tetrahedron Letters 2667 (1973).
- 24J. K. Waseman, R. Williamson, J. L. Greene, Jr. and P. B. Shevlin, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 901 (1973) and Refs. therein.
- ²⁵⁵G. E. Hartzell and J. N. Paige, J. Org. Chem. 32, 459 (1967).
- ²⁵⁶K. Kondo, A. Negishi and M. Fukuyama, Tetrahedron Letters 2461 (1969).
- ²³⁷J. E. Baldwin, G. Hoffe and S. C. Choi, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 93, 2810 (1971).
- ²⁵⁸K. Kondo, M. Matsumoto and A. Negishi, Tetrahedron Letters 2131 (1972).
- ²⁵⁶G. Opitz and K. Fisher, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 4, 70 (1965).
- 240 L. A. Carpino and L. V. McAdams, III, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 87, 5804 (1965).
- 241a N. P. Neureiter and F. G. Bordwell, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 85, 1209 (1965); N. P. Neureiter, Ibid. 88, 558 (1966).
- ²⁴²N. Tokura, T. Nagai and S. Matsumura, J. Org. Chem. 31, 349 (1966).
- ²⁴³F. G. Bordwell, J. M. McWilliams, Jr., E. B. Hoyt, Jr. and B. B. Jarvis, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 90, 429 (1968).
- ²⁴⁴ D. M. Lemal and S. D. McGregor, *Ibid.* 38, 2858 (1966) and Refs. therein; ⁴W. L. Mock, *Ibid.* 38, 2857 (1966); ^cW. L. Mock, *Ibid.* 92, 6918 (1970).
- ²⁴⁵B. M. Trost and S. D. Ziman, *Ibid.* 93, 3825 (1971); see also B. M. Trost, W. L. Schinski and I. B. Mantz, *Ibid.* 91, 4320 (1969); B. M. Trost, W. L. Schinski, I. B. Mantz and F. Chen, *Ibid.* 93, 680 (1971).
- 246 J. W. Lown, Rec. Chem. Progr. 32, 51 (1971).
- ²⁶⁷A. Hassner, M. E. Lorber and C. H. Heathcock, J. Org. Chem. 32, 540 (1967); and Refs. therein.
- ²⁴⁴ A. Hassner, Accts. Chem. Res. 4, 9 (1971). For syn-addition of IN₃ see G. Mehta, P. K. Dutta and P. N. Pandey, Tetrahedron Letters 445 (1975); T. Sasuki, K. Kanematsu and A. Kondo, Tetrahedron 31, 2215 (1975).
- ²⁴⁰A. B. Levy and H. C. Brown, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 95, 4067 (1973).
- ²⁷⁰D. VanEnde and A. Krief, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 13, 279 (1974).
- ²⁷¹A. Zwierzak and K. Osowska, *Ibid.* Int. Ed. Engl. 15, 302 (1976).
- ²⁷²J. E. Backvall, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 413 (1977).
- 273R. Appel and R. K. Kleinstuck, Chem. Ber. 107, 5 (1974).
- ²⁷⁴R. Appel and M. Halstenberg, Ibid. 109, 814 (1976).
- ²⁷⁵R. M. Carlson and S. Y. Lee, Tetrahedron Letters 4001 (1969).
- 276 H. Wenker, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 57, 2328 (1935); P. A. Leighton, W. A. Perkins and M. C. Renquist, Ibid. 69, 1540 (1947).
- 277K. B. Sharpless, D. W. Patrick, L. K. Truesdale and S. A. Bitter, Ibid. 97, 2305 (1975).
- ²⁷⁰R. D. Clark and G. K. Helmkamp, J. Org. Chem. 29, 1316 (1964).
- 279 Y. Hata and M. Watanabe, Tetrahedron Letters 4659 (1972); 3827 (1972).
- ²⁴⁰J. P. Freeman and W. H. Graham, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 89, 1761 (1967).
- ²⁸¹L. A. Carpino and R. K. Kirkley, *Ibid.* 92, 1785 (1970).
- 282 R. K. Muller, D. Felix, J. Schreiber and A. Eschenmoser, Helv. Chim. Acta 53, 1479 (1970).
- ²⁸³D. M. Lemal and S. D. McGregor, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 88, 1335 (1966).
- ²⁸⁴J. A. Berson and S. S. Olin, *Ibid.* 91, 777 (1969).
- ²⁸⁵E. J. Moriconi and J. F. Kelly, Tetrahedron Letters 1435 (1968); see also H. Bestian, H. Biener, K. Clauss and H. Heyn, Liebigs Ann. Chem. 718, 94 (1968).
- ²⁶⁶L. A. Paquette, M. J. Wyvratt and G. R. Allen, Jr., J. Am. Chem. Soc. 92, 1763 (1970).
- ²⁸⁷a E. J. Corey and R. A. Winter, Ibid. 25, 2677 (1963); ^bE. J. Corey, F. A. Carey and R. A. E. Winter, Ibid. 27, 934 (1965).
- ²⁸⁸J. Daub, V. Trautz and U. Erhardt, Tetrahedron Letters 4435 (1972).
- ²⁰⁰M. F. Semmelhack and R. D. Stauffer, *Ibid.* 2667 (1973); M. F. Semmelhack, Org. Reactions 19, 115 (1972).
- ²⁸⁰E. Vedejs and E. S. C. Wu, Tetrahedron Letters 3793 (1973); *J. Org. Chem. 39, 3641 (1974).
- ²⁹¹A. M. Creighton and L. N. Owen, J. Chem. Soc. 1024 (1960); S. M. Igbal and L. N. Owen, Ibid. 1030 (1960).
- ²⁸²C. G. Overberger and A. Drucker, J. Org. Chem. 29, 360 (1964).
- 200W. T. Borden, P. W. Concannon and D. I. Phillips, Tetrahedron Letters 3161 (1973).
- ²⁸⁴E. J. Corey and G. Markl, *Ibid.* 3201 (1967).
- ²⁸⁵D. Horton and C. G. Tindall, Jr., J. Org. Chem. 35, 3558 (1970).
- ²⁵⁴D. B. J. Easton and D. Leaver, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 585 (1965); D. B. J. Easton, D. Leaver and T. J. Rawlings, Ibid. Perkin Trans. 1 41 (1972).
- ²⁹⁷R. L. Letzinger and D. F. Pollart, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 78, 6079 (1956).
- 200 P. S. Wharton, G. A. Hiegel and S. Ramaswami, J. Org. Chem. 29, 2441 (1964).
- ²⁹⁹J. N. Hines, M. J. Peagram, G. H. Whitham and M. Wright, J. Chem. Soc. Chem. Commun. 1593 (1968).
- 388G. Crank and F. W. Eastwood, Aust. J. Chem. 17, 1392 (1964).

- 301 J. S. Josan and F. W. Eastwood, Ibid. 21, 2013 (1968); see also K. O. Berlin and B. S. Rathore, Tetrahedron Latters 2547 (1964).
- 342A. P. M. van der Veek and F. H. van Putten, Ibid. 3951 (1970).
- 383 F. W. Eastwood, K. J. Harrington, J. S. Josan and J. L. Pura, Ibid. 5223 (1970).
- ³⁸⁴D. M. Lemal, R. A. Lovald and R. W. Harrington, *Ibid.* 2779 (1965); D. M. Lemal, E. P. Gosselink and A. Auk, *Ibid.* 579 (1964); and earlier papers cited. See also Ref. 55b, p. 161, for a discussion of symmetry considerations.
- 365 A. C. Cope, C. R. Ganellin, H. W. Johnson, Jr., T. V. VanAuken and J. H. S. Winkler, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 35, 3276 (1963).
- 306 A. C. Cope and A. S. Mehta, Ibid. 36, 5626 (1964).
- 307 E. J. Corey and J. I. Shulman, Tetrahedron Letters 3655 (1968).
- 346G. H. Whitham and M. Wright, J. Chem. Soc. (C), 883, 886, 891 (1971).
- 300 T. Aratani, Y. Nakanisi and H. Nozaki, Tetrahedron 26, 4339 (1970).
- ³¹⁰D. Horton and W. N. Turner, Tetrahedron Letters 2531 (1964).
- 311 T. L. Nagelbushan, Can. J. Chem. 48, 383 (1971).
- ³¹²M. Tichy and J. Scher, Tetrahedron Letters 4609 (1969).
- ³¹³L. A. Paquette, J. C. Philips and R. E. Wingard, Jr., J. Am. Chem. Soc. 93, 4516 (1971).
- ³¹⁴E. Vedejs and E. S. C. Wu, Tetrahedron Letters 3793 (1973).
- ³¹⁵E. J. Thomas, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin I 2006 (1973).
- ³¹⁶E. J. Corey and R. A. E. Winter, *Ibid.* Chem. Commun. 208 (1965).
- 317R. Hull and R. Farrand, Ibid. Chem. Commun. 164 (1965).
- 318J. Drabowski and K. Kamienska-Trela, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 98, 2826 (1976); and Refs. therein.
- ³¹⁹V. I. Bakhmutov, K. K. Babievskii, V. A. Burmistrov, E. I. Fedin and V. M. Belikov, Izu. Akad. Nauk, SSSR, Ser. Khim. 2719 (1978).
- 338H. C. Brown, Organic Synthesis via Boranes, pp. 104, 105. Wiley, New York (1975).
- ³²¹R. B. Miller and G. McGarvey, J. Org. Chem. 43, 4424 (1978).
- 322 P. E. Hudrlik, A. M. Hudrlik, R. J. Rona, R. N. Misra and G. P. Withers, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 99, 1993 (1977).
- 323C. Huynh and G. Linstrumelle, Tetrahedron Letters 1073 (1979).
- ³²⁴Equilibration of vinyl bromides by UV: S. Uemura, H. O. Kazaki and M. Okana, J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. I 1278 (1978).
- ³²³Stereospecific preparations of enol ethers have been summarized: D. Baudry, M. Ephritikhine and H. Felkin, Ibid. Chem. Commun. 694 (1978).